Dietary fat and bile acids in the pathogenesis of gut barrier dysfunction

Lotta Stenman

Institute of Biomedicine, Pharmacology University of Helsinki

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in Lecture Hall 2, Biomedicum Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8, on June 28th at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2013

SUPERVISORS

Professor Riitta Korpela, PhD Institute of Biomedicine, Pharmacology University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Reetta Holma, PhD Institute of Biomedicine, Pharmacology University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

REVIEWERS

Associate Professor Kirsi Pietiläinen, MD, PhD, MSc Obesity Research Unit, Research Programs Unit, Diabetes and Obesity University of Helsinki and Department of Medicine, Division of Endocrinology Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Professor Jussi Pihlajamäki, MD, PhD Institute of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition University of Eastern Finland Kuopio, Finland

OPPONENT

Professor Karl-Heinz Herzig, MD, PhD Institute of Biomedicine, Division of Physiology University of Oulu and Biocenter of Oulu Oulu, Finland

Cover image: Lotta Stenman, DAPI staining on mouse colon

ISBN 978-952-10-8704-2 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-8705-9 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

Helsinki University Print Helsinki 2013

"True ease in writing comes from art, not chance, as those who move easiest have learned to dance"

Alexander Pope

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS
MAIN ABBREVIATIONS AND TERMS
ABSTRACT
1 INTRODUCTION
2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE
2.1 What is intestinal permeability?12
2.1.1 Components of the intestinal barrier12
2.1.2 Pathways of endotoxin translocation
2.1.3 Tight-junction proteins as gate-keepers
2.1.4 Interplay of inflammation and barrier function
2.1.5 How is intestinal permeability measured?
2.1.6 Impaired gut barrier function in disease25
2.2 Factors that affect intestinal permeability29
2.2.1 Fiber and other microbiome-modulating agents29
2.2.2 Dietary fat and obesity
2.2.3 Other dietary components
2.2.4 Other factors
2.3 Luminal bile acids40
2.3.1 Synthesis, transformation and absorption40
2.3.2 How does diet modulate the luminal bile acid pool?42
2.3.3 Bile acids and epithelial permeability48
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS
4.1 Experimental animals and study designs52
4.2 Tissue collection
4.3 Ussing chamber experiments56
4.4 In vitro bile acid experiments57
4.5 Measurement of intestinal permeability <i>in vivo</i> 58
4.6 Fecal bile acid analyses59
4.7 Biochemical analyses59
4.8 Scores for diarrhea and colonic inflammation

4.9 Data analysis
5 RESULTS
5.1 Body weight of mice in dietary interventions63
5.2 Effects of dietary fat and obesity on gut barrier function63
5.3 Effects of dietary fat and obesity on fecal bile acids
5.4 Effects of fecal bile acids on gut barrier function and inflammation70
5.5 Dietary fat and susceptibility to experimental colitis
6 DISCUSSION
6.1 Methodological aspects
6.1.1 Methods for measuring intestinal permeability
6.1.2 Mouse models83
6.1.3 Experimental diets85
6.2 Effects of dietary fat and obesity on intestinal permeability87
6.3 Bile acids as a possible mechanism
6.4 Clinical relevance93
6.5 Future directions94
7 CONCLUSIONS95
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS96
REFERENCES
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS119

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications (Studies I-IV) and some unpublished data.

- I Stenman, L.K., Holma, R., Korpela, R. (2012). High-fat-induced intestinal permeability dysfunction associated with altered fecal bile acids. World J Gastroenterol 18, 923–929.
- II Stenman, L.K., Holma, R., Gylling, H., Korpela, R. Genetically obese mice do not show increased gut permeability or faecal bile acid hydrophobicity. Br J Nutr *In press*
- III Stenman, L.K., Holma, R., Eggert, A., Korpela, R. (2013). A novel mechanism for gut barrier dysfunction by dietary fat: epithelial disruption by hydrophobic bile acids. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 304, G227–234.
- IV Stenman, L.K., Holma, R., Forsgård, R., Gylling, H., Korpela, R. Increased fecal bile acid hydrophobicity is associated with exacerbation of DSS colitis by dietary fish oil on a high-fat diet in mice. J Nutr Submitted

The original publications are reprinted with the kind permission of the copyright holders.

MAIN ABBREVIATIONS AND TERMS

CD14	Cluster of differentiation 14
CDCA	Chenodeoxycholic acid
Cr-EDTA	Chromium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
DCA	Deoxycholic acid
DSS	Dextran sodium sulphate
E%	Per cent of total dietary energy
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FXR	Farnesoid X receptor
HIx	Hydrophobicity index
HF	High-fat diet
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IBS	Irritable bowel syndrome
JAM	Junctional adhesion molecule
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MLCK	Myosin light chain kinase
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide binding protein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
TER	Transepithelial electrical resistance
UDCA	Ursodeoxycholic acid
ZO	Zonula occludens

Endotoxin: A toxic heat-stable lipopolysaccharide substance present in the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria that is released from the cell upon lysis

Intestinal permeability: Translocation of a molecule that is not actively absorbed through the gut epithelium, used synonymously with barrier function, since these two may not always be distinguished due to limitations in methodology

Metabolic endotoxemia: A low-grade but significant endotoxemia where serum endotoxin levels are approximately 2-fold compared to a healthy state

Translocation: Passage of a molecule through an epithelial layer by an undefined mechanism

ABSTRACT

Gut barrier function is impaired in several disorders such as inflammatory bowel diseases, diabetes and steatohepatitis. It is suspected that this is related to increased permeability to bacterial endotoxins from the lumen through the gut epithelium. Recent studies have shown a link between high-fat diet and endotoxemia, but the underlying mechanisms are unknown. One possible explanation is the contribution of other luminal substances, such as bile acids. Fat ingestion induces bile flow to the duodenum to facilitate the absorption of fat. At high concentrations, bile acids – especially very hydrophobic bile acids – are cytotoxic. The aim of this study was to investigate whether dietary fat or obesity causes barrier dysfunction, and whether bile acids play a role in its pathogenesis. The role of bile acid hydrophobicity in their capability of inducing barrier dysfunction was given special attention.

The effects of dietary fat and obesity on gut barrier function were investigated in the diet induced obesity and ob/ob -mouse models. Fecal bile acids were quantified and profiles calculated from these mice. The effects of bile acids on intestinal permeability were studied in an *in vivo* feeding trial with deoxycholic acid and *in vitro* in an Ussing chamber. *In vitro*, tissue preparations were incubated with deoxycholic acid and/or ursodeoxycholic acid - two bile acids greatly different in their hydrophobicity.

Gut barrier function was impaired by a high-saturated fat diet in mice, but not in genetically obese mice that were fed normal low-fat chow. Barrier dysfunction by dietary fat was especially prominent in jejunum and colon - no significant difference was seen in the permeability of duodenum or ileum. Fecal bile acid hydrophobicity was increased only by dietary fat, not by genetic obesity, and was positively correlated with intestinal permeability.

Deoxycholic acid alone increased gut permeability both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The effect was more evident in colonic than jejunal tissue preparations, and the mechanism seemed not to be inflammation-dependent. Barrier impairment was reduced by the hydrophilic ursodeoxycholic acid, which was also reflected as improved tissue morphology. Deoxycholic acid -induced barrier dysfunction seemed to be aggravated by translocated lipopolysaccharides.

The present results suggest that dietary fat, but not obesity itself, impairs gut barrier function. The data imply that luminal bile acids are one mechanism for barrier impairment, with hydrophobic bile acids initiating tissue disruption and lipopolysaccharides likely playing the role of a second hit.

1 INTRODUCTION

The intestine has an essential function as a barrier between intestinal contents – the "outside world" – and the body (for review, see Arrieta *et al.*, 2006). The gut barrier is impaired in several pathologies, some of them severely affecting the quality of life: inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) (for review, see Goyette *et al.*, 2007), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (for review, see Camilleri *et al.*, 2012), type 1 diabetes (for review, see Vaarala, 2008), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (for review, see Valenti *et al.*, 2009) and allergy (for review, see Perrier and Corthésy, 2011).

Recently, impairment of gut barrier function has been linked to obesity and a diet high in fat (for review, see Teixeira *et al.*, 2012a), which are part of the Western lifestyle. In humans, a Western diet is suggested to lead to endotoxemia – an elevated level of bacterial surface molecules in the circulation (Pendyala *et al.*, 2012). These pathogenic compounds are expected to originate from the gut lumen and to reflect an impairment of gut barrier function. In the circulation, they are highly inflammatory and may in part promote the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (for reviews, see Cani and Delzenne, 2009; Valenti *et al.*, 2009). Reducing the intestinal translocation of endotoxins may help prevent the metabolic disease burden associated with obesity. Therefore, understanding the mechanisms underlying gut barrier dysfunction may help identify targets for future disease prevention and treatment.

It is yet unkown, whether it is the dietary fat or obesity that causes barrier dysfunction, and there are only suggestions upon possible mechanisms. Many research groups have addressed this field and proposed that alterations in the gut microbiome affect intestinal barrier function (Cani *et al.*, 2007a, 2008, 2009; Carvalho *et al.*, 2012; de La Serre *et al.*, 2010; Serino *et al.*, 2012). However, the gut holds a substantial number of other substances which may affect barrier function; for example bile acids. The excretion of bile acids is induced by ingestion of fat, as their main purpose is to solubilize dietary fat into a more readily absorbed form. Indeed, a high-fat diet increases their serum and fecal concentrations (Reddy, 1981; Suzuki and Hara, 2010). The fact that high levels of certain bile acids are cytotoxic to gut epithelium (for review, see Barrasa *et al.*, 2013) gave rise to the hypothesis that alterations in bile acid composition may affect gut barrier function in mice on a high-fat diet.

The purpose of this thesis was to investigate the role of dietary fat and bile acids in gut barrier dysfunction in mice. A specific focus was set on two bile acids, deoxycholic acid and ursodeoxycholic acid, which differ in hydrophobicity, a measure related to bile acid cytotoxicity.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 What is intestinal permeability?

2.1.1 Components of the intestinal barrier

The intestinal barrier consists of several non-immunological defense mechanisms that together prevent luminal substances, such as microbes, viruses, antigens and toxins, from entering the body (for review, see DeMeo *et al.*, 2002). Together with the gut immune system they form the so-called intestinal barrier. These mechanisms are summarized in Figure 1.

In the small intestine, the gut epithelial lining sheds cells (1, Figure 1) and excretes fluid into the lumen (2) which dilute the intestinal contents and, assisted by motility, wash away potential toxins (for review, see Sarker and Gyr, 1992). Among luminal contents, pancreatic enzymes and bile have anti-bacterial effects (3) (Sarker and Gyr, 1992), and commensal microbes inhibit colonization of pathogens by competing for nutrients and secreting anti-microbials (for review, see Yu *et al.*, 2012). In addition, epithelial cells secrete vast amounts of mucus, that inhibits adherence of luminal bacteria onto the epithelium (4) (DeMeo *et al.*, 2002), and an array of antimicrobial peptides known as defensins secreted by epithelial Paneth cells (5) (for review, see Bevins *et al.*, 1999). The gut also secretes immunoglobulin A to bind

bacterial antigens into a complex that is excreted in feces (6) (DeMeo *et al.*, 2002). Together these mechanisms are called the first line of defense.

The second line of defense in gut barrier function consists of the epithelial cells and their junctional complexes, providing a physical barrier between the host and lumen (7) (DeMeo *et al.*, 2002). This is the most important protective component of the gut barrier. The epithelial barrier may be disrupted by either direct cell damage or through intracellular signaling mechanisms affecting cell-to-cell junctions (DeMeo *et al.*, 2002). The paracellular barrier consists of four protein junctions: desmosomes, gap junctions, adherens junctions and tight-junctions, of which desmosomes and adherens junctions have an important role in the mechanical linkage of cells (Anand *et al.*, 2008; for review, see Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009). The tight junction system controls the paracellular flux and prevents unwanted translocation of harmful substances, while it allows antigen-sampling by submucosal immune cells (DeMeo *et al.*, 2002). This mucosal immune system (8) forms the final line of defense in the gut barrier.





2.1.2 Pathways of endotoxin translocation

Intestinal permeability is described as the leakage of large molecules, such as endotoxins (i.e. lipopolysaccharide, LPS), through the gut epithelium, and should be distinguished from the carrier-mediated absorption of dietary ingredients. However, the concept of intestinal permeability is not very well defined, since the probes used in the assessment of intestinal permeability may translocate through different pathways. This translocation through gut epithelium may be divided into two possible pathways: the paracellular pathway and the transcellular pathway, which may be further divided into the aqueous and lipid transport routes (for review, see DeMeo *et al.*, 2002; Caesar *et al.*, 2010). It is generally assumed that small molecules translocate through the paracellular pathway, whereas large molecules require transcellular transport. The following evidence suggests that this is not always the case.

The paracellular pathway is guarded by tight-junctions (see 2.1.3), which do not normally allow passage of large molecules through the epithelium. However, there is some evidence indicating that even large molecules may translocate through the paracellular pathway, when induced by carbachol (Bijlsma *et al.*, 1996) or intestinal sensitization (Berin *et al.*, 1997, 1998) in the rat. Furthermore, interleukin-4 induces the translocation of large molecules up to 150 kDa through an epithelial cell layer, but is not reversed by an inhibitor of energy-dependent transport, which suggests an activation of the paracellular pathway (Mochizuki *et al.*, 2009). Evidence in human ileum shows that in healthy conditions, LPS translocation occurs only transcellularly whereas in tissue specimens of patients with Crohn's disease, LPS is also detected paracellularly (Keita *et al.*, 2008). These data demonstrate that a paracellular pathway for LPS translocation could be induced by pathological conditions.

Translocation of endotoxins is also suggested to be chylomicronfacilitated. This was shown as an increased translocation of endotoxins, when Caco-2 cells were stimulated by fatty acids, which promote chylomicron formation (Ghoshal *et al.*, 2009). Endotoxin translocation was blocked by an inhibitor of chylomicron formation *in vivo*. In rat jejunum, fluorescence-labeled endotoxin has indeed been shown to be absorbed into brush-border membrane vesicles (Drewe *et al.*, 2001). In humans, this hypothesis is supported by findings that a fat-containing meal increases postprandial plasma endotoxin levels (Erridge *et al.*, 2007; Ghanim *et al.*, 2009; Laugerette *et al.*, 2011), which suggests a linkage to lipid absorption. However, these studies do not permit us to draw conclusions on whether the effect is specific to dietary fat, since results were not compared to a low-fat control meal. Only one study comparing cream, orange juice, glucose and water has demonstrated plasma endotoxemia only after fat, not carbohydrate ingestion (Deopurkar *et al.*, 2010).

In short, this evidence suggests that both pathways – paracellular and transcellular – are involved in endotoxin translocation. The paracellular pathway appears to be of particular importance in chronic disease, whereas the transcellular pathway likely contributes to postprandial endotoxemia.

2.1.3 Tight-junction proteins as gate-keepers

The tight-junction is the most apical protein complex linking epithelial cells together. It is a structure comprising over 50 proteins, with transmembrane proteins interacting with the cytoskeleton through plaque proteins (for review, see Ulluwishewa *et al.*, 2011) (Figure 2). Tight-junction proteins include five families of transmembrane proteins, occludins, claudins junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs), the coxsackie virus and adenovirus receptor (CAR) and tricellulin, which is a tight-junction protein forming a linkage between three adjacent cells (for review, see Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009; Hossain and Hirata, 2008). Occludin, tricellulin and claudin are tetra-span proteins with four transmembrane domains and two extracellular

loops, whereas JAM and CAR are single-span proteins (Hossain and Hirata, 2008; Ulluwishewa *et al.*, 2011). The transmembrane proteins are connected to the cell cytoskeleton by intracellular proteins such as zonula occludens 1-3 (Ulluwishewa *et al.*, 2011). The roles of the most important tight-junctions are very briefly introduced below.



Figure 2. Pathways of translocation through the epithelium with tightjunction proteins guarding traffic through the paracellular pathway. The size of the enterocytes is not scaled to the size of the tight-junction complex. JAM = Junctional adhesion molecule, CAR = Coxsackie virus and adenovirus receptor, ZO = Zonula occludens. (adapted from Ulluwishewa et al. 2011)

Claudins are vital to the survival of an individual (for review, see Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009): claudin 1^{-/-} mice die within one day of birth due to the lack of a proper gut barrier. Humans bear 24 genes for different claudins, and the responses of those proteins to defects in barrier function are known to differ. For example in barrier dysfunction in Crohn's disease, expression of claudins-1 and -4 are unchanged, while claudin-5 and -8 are downregulated and claudin-2 even upregulated (for review, see Schulzke *et al.*, 2009). Claudins demostrate size- and charge specificity which enable strict control over

the paracellular flux of kations and anions (Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009).

Transgenic occludin^{-/-} mice, in contrast, have normal barrier function despite the total lack of occludin (Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009). Occludin indeed seems to be more important in maintaining barrier function than in its formation, since occludin expression is inversely correlated with the translocation of FITC dextran from the gastrointestinal tract to serum (Cani *et al.*, 2008, 2009).

JAM^{-/-} mice display compromised barrier function (Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009). JAMs seem to play a role especially in tight-junction formation, but not in barrier maintenance, because antibodies against JAM do not disrupt already formed tight-junctions (for review, see Assimakopoulos *et al.*, 2011).

Zonula occludens (ZO) proteins are cytosolic adaptor proteins linking together the cell skeleton and the transmembrane tight-junction proteins. There are three ZO types: ZO-1, ZO-2 and ZO-3. Of these, ZO-1 and -2 are critical in the formation of tight-junctions by recruiting claudins to the tight-junction complex (for review, see Marchiando *et al.*, 2010a).

Tight-junctions are regulated by several intracellular pathways including myosin light chain kinase (MLCK), mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), protein kinase C (PKC) and the Rho family of small GTPases (Ulluwishewa *et al.*, 2011). Of these, the MLCK pathway is one of the most abundant in the gut, and is a crucial step in the regulation of tight-junctional permeability by several external stimuli, such as cytokines and pathogens (Scott *et al.*, 2002) - inhibition of MLCK prevented the deterioration of barrier function. It is well established that MLCK phosphorylates myosin light chain (MLC) leading to the reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton (for review, see Shen, 2012). Downstream events in tight-junction regulation are less well understood. It seems that MLCK induces the endocytosis of occludin from the tight-junction complex to intracellular vesicles, which is triggered by cytokines or T-cell activation (Clayburgh *et al.*, 2005; Marchiando *et al.*, 2010b). MLCK may also affect permeability via ZO-1 mobility from the tight-junction to the cytoskeleton (Yu *et al.*, 2010). By these mechanisms, MLCK activation increases intestinal permeability. Another pathway for tight-junction regulation is the protein kinase C pathway, which is activated by zonulin, an epithelium-derived protein analogical to zonula occludens toxin (for review, see Fasano, 2000). Zonulin-induced protein kinase C alpha activation leads to actin polymerization and rapid opening of the tight-junctions, and is suggested to have a causal role in celiac disease (Fasano *et al.*, 2000).

To summarize, tight-junction proteins are undoubtedly crucial in maintaining the gut barrier. There are numerous different proteins that differently regulate intestinal permeability. To understand how tightjunction proteins are changed in barrier dysfunction, it is inadequate to analyze a single protein, since it is important to understand their interactions. Measuring the activation of regulatory pathways could also prove useful.

2.1.4 Interplay of inflammation and barrier function

Intestinal inflammation is associated with impaired barrier function, but it is not always clear, which is the cause and which is the consequence. The intestinal barrier controls the passage of inflammatory substances to the submucosa, where they react with immune cells and cause damage via inflammation. For example in two mouse models of colitis, the IL-10 knock-out mouse and the dextran sodium sulphate (DSS) model, histological damage is associated with increased gut permeability (Kennedy *et al.*, 2000; for review, see Perše and Cerar, 2012). The association is likely caused by the increased leakage of inflammatory antigens (Perše and Cerar, 2012). Moreover, JAM-/--mice show increased susceptibility to DSS-induced colitis

(Groschwitz and Hogan, 2009), which implies that impairment of the epithelial barrier predisposes the epithelium to inflammation.

Inflammatory pathways also interfere with systems preserving the gut barrier, most notably tight-junctions (for review, see John *et al.*, 2011). During an inflammatory response, the epithelium releases reactive oxygen species, nitric oxide and a broad spectrum of inflammatory cytokines, which all contribute to barrier dysfunction. Reactive oxygen species are produced in the host response to intestinal bacteria, but an excess may lead to barrier leakage. For example, hydrogen peroxide can directly affect tight-junction distribution (Katsube *et al.*, 2007) or, together with nitric oxide, oxidate and nitrate the actin cytoskeleton, which further disrupts the intestinal barrier (Banan *et al.*, 2001). Hydrogen peroxide also activates nuclear factor kappa B, which leads to cytokine production (Schreck *et al.*, 1991). Moreover, cytokines induce the production of reactive oxygen species, leading to a vicious cycle.

Inflammatory cytokines are normally produced by submucosal immune cells in response to a luminally derived trigger. Modulation of barrier function by inflammatory cytokines is common to several inflammatory gastrointestinal diseases, although the specific cytokine profile varies (John *et al.*, 2011). Among the most important regulators are tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α and interferon (IFN)- γ . They increase intestinal permeability and lead to a redistribution of tight-junction proteins, which seems to depend on endocytosis of these proteins. These cytokines are proposed to act through a pathway involving MLCK, which fosforylates MLC and leads to tight-junction disruption (Zolotarevsky *et al.*, 2002). Other proinflammatory cytokines include for example the interleukins (especially IL-13 and IL-8), whereas transforming growth factor (TGF)- β is immunosuppressive and has barrier-enhancing properties (John *et al.*, 2011).

2.1.5 How is intestinal permeability measured?

Different methods for the measurement of intestinal permeability may represent slightly different pathways of translocation. For direct measurement of barrier function, a molecular probe is introduced into the intestine and detected from either circulation or urine (for review, see Bjarnason *et al.*, 1995). Barrier function may also be indirectly assessed by the analysis of tight-junction proteins or the serological detection of substances that are assumingly gut-derived, such as bacterial lipopolysaccharides. The methods for assessment of intestinal permeability are summarized in Table 1.

Table	1. Methods	of measuring	intestinal	permeability,	with molecular
probes	and their siz	ies			

Direct measurement	Indirect measurement
In vivo Sugar probes (0.16-0.34 kDa) Cr ⁵¹ -EDTA (0.34 kDa)	Tight-junction proteins (Portal) LPS LPS binding protein
In vitro FITC dextrans (4-2000 kDa) Fluorescein (0.38 kDa) Horseraddish peroxidase (44 kDa) Mannitol (0.18 kDa) Trans-epithelial resistance	Ei S bhiding protein

Direct measurement of permeability in vivo

Intestinal permeability may be directly defined by the permeation of a probe molecule. A suitable permeability probe is water-soluble, non-toxic, is not actively absorbed from the intestine, and not metabolized before, during or after translocation through the epithelium (for review, see Bjarnason *et al.*, 1995; DeMeo *et al.*, 2002). Originally, permeability was tested with single molecule probes (lactulose, polyethylene glycol [PEG], ⁵¹Cr-labeled ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid [⁵¹Cr-EDTA], ^{99m}Tc-

diethylenetriaminopentaacetare ^{[99m}Tc-DTPA]). Single-probe tests, however, are influenced by factors unrelated to intestinal permeability, such as gastrointestinal motility and renal clearance (Bjarnason et al., 1995). This led to the principal of dual probe tests, in which the urinary excretion of two sugar probes, lactulose and mannitol, forms an index that reflects mucosal permeability. Lactulose is a larger probe that only translocates through the paracellular pathway when mucosal barrier function is impaired. Mannitol is used as an internal control, since it readily translocates through both paracellular and transcellular pathways. Comparing the urinary concentrations of these two probes eliminates bias caused differences in gastric emptying and fluid ingestion. Despite being considered the gold standard for permeability testing in humans, the lactulose-mannitol test has its pitfall for use in diabetic subjects – chronic hyperglycemia is associated with increased enterocyte mass (Verdam et al., 2011), which may lead to an increased transloaction of mannitol and false low values for intestinal permeability.

Probe size determines the location of translocation, since villus tips contain numerous small, aqueous channels in the tight-junction complexes, while crypts contain fewer but larger channels (for review, see Arrieta *et al.*, 2006). Thus larger probes such as lactulose, inulin and ⁵¹Cr-EDTA would translocate the epithelium at the base of villi while small probes (i.e. mannitol) may permeate tips of villi. Very large probes like inulin and the smallest fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-dextrans would only translocate from the crypts.

The metabolite-properties of a sugar probe determines the site of intestine that its permeation reflects (Arrieta *et al.*, 2006). Sucrose is rapidly hydrolyzed in the small intestine, which makes it a useful probe for studying gastric permeability. The small intestine probes lactulose, mannitol, rhamnose and cellobiose, on the other hand, are metabolized by gut microbiota. In conditions of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth, the evaluation of mannitol or lactulose loss is impossible, and introduces a large confounding factor into the method.

Only probes that are stable throughout the gastrointestinal tract, such as sucralose and ⁵¹Cr-EDTA, are markers of colonic or whole intestinal permeability. Colonic permeability may be calculated by reducing small intestinal permeability from whole intestinal permeability.

In animal studies, the above-mentioned *in vivo* methods are entirely applicable, although sugar probes are more rarely used. In contrast, the most common probes used are the radiolabeled ⁵¹Cr-EDTA and the fluorescence-labeled FITC-dextran, perhaps for their simple means of detection. FITC-dextran is gavaged into the animal and detected from plasma or serum after a certain time period, most often four hours. The dextrans are commercially available in sizes ranging from 4 kDa to 2000 kDa, but *in vivo* experiments have mainly utilized the 4 kDa dextran size.

Direct measurement of permeability in vitro

Intestinal permeability is also measured in vitro from tissue samples or cell inserts. These studies may be conducted in an Ussing chamber system (for review, see Clarke, 2009), which holds the sample in conditions mimicking those of the intact organism: water-jacketed for correct temperature in physiological buffer, which is gassed to a pH of 7.4 using a carbogen gas flow. Intestinal permeability may then be measured with molecular probes of various molecular weights (such as FITC dextran, horseraddish peroxidase, mannitol, fluorescein, cascade blue or lucifer yellow) or as transepithelial electrical resistance (TER), which can be used as a measure of the integrity of the paracellular pathway. In the Ussing chamber, TER is calculated from the Ohm's law (U=R*I) using tissue potential difference (U) and short-circuit current (I). Resistance (R) is then directly influenced by short-circuit current, which reflects the secretion of electrolytes from the tissue, and may increase deviation in TER between tissue preparations. Interestingly, cell cultures with truncated occludin mutants (Balda et al., 1996) or occludin-targeted siRNA (Al-Sadi et al., 2011), have an increased flux of various kinds of small probes, but show no difference in TER. These

studies suggest that the flux of molecular markers and TER are in some situations dissociated and may reflect different translocation pathways.

Indirect measurement of permeability

Intestinal tight-junction proteins or circulatory LPS are often measured to indirectly describe barrier function. Naturally, tight-junction proteins only reflect the integrity of the paracellular pathway. Nevertheless, decreased expression of occludin and ZO-1 are associated with increased permeability to FITC-dextran (Cani *et al.*, 2008, 2009), which supports their importance in regulating barrier function. The assessment of tight-junction integrity may be complex, since the proper function of tight-junctions is not only determined by protein or mRNA level, but also by tight-junction phosphorylation, structure and localization (for review, see Shen, 2012). A challenge for the future will be to address these issues with modern high-resolution histological techniques.

Impaired barrier function is often mistakenly perceived as a synonym to endotoxemia, because the gut is an important source of plasma endotoxins. Endotoxins from portal or peripheral serum/plasma are thus used as an indirect measure of permeability. However, the following concerns are related to circulating endotoxins as markers of barrier function (Teixeira *et al.*, 2012a): 1) Modifications in gut microbiota may change the luminal LPS concentration and lead to an increase in absolute translocation of LPS without a difference in epithelial permeability *per se.* 2) Altered liver clearance of LPS, for example due to advanced liver disease and defective Kupffer cell function, may affect circulatory levels and lead to false conclusions on the association of a disease with impaired barrier function. Because of these two confounding factors, circulating endotoxins do not necessarily describe gut permeability.

To summarize, intestinal permeability measurements would ideally be performed with two different methods.

Endotoxins or single tight-junctions may not reflect changes in gut permeability, and varying translocation pathways complicates data comparison. Nevertheless, in clinical studies, dual sugar probes, in particular the lactulose:mannitol test, are most often used for permeability measurements, whereas in vivo animal studies rely on FITC-dextran and ⁵¹Cr-EDTA. In vitro, both probes and TER may be used quite reliably.

2.1.6 Impaired gut barrier function in disease

Impaired gut barrier function is a common characteristic of many diseases of systemic and local inflammation. This is because the intestinal barrier is a gate-keeper for the inflammatory luminal contents: bacteria and endotoxins. The mechanisms for impaired barrier function, however, have remained unknown.

Inflammatory response by endotoxins

The participation of bacteria-derived endotoxins in sepsis was well known back in the 60's (for review, see Lansing, 1963), but direct human evidence of an inflammatory response following endotoxin injection was not obtained until later (Fong et al., 1989). It is now known that the activation of an endotoxin-induced inflammatory response requires the interaction of four proteins (for review, see Kitchens and Thompson, 2005): LPS binding protein (LBP), cluster of differentiation 14 (CD14), the lymphocyte antigen MD-2 and the endotoxin receptor toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4). On the cell-surface, membrane-bound CD14 (mCD14) presents LPS to a complex of MD-2 and TLR-4, which together activate the signaling cascade. Soluble CD14 (sCD14) and LBP are serum proteins that influence the potency of LPS to activate TLR-4 (Kitchens and Thompson, 2005). LBP binds to LPS and may cleave it from bacteria to be presented to CD14. At low concentrations LBP promotes the transfer or LPS to the receptor complex and the induction of an inflammatory response. At high

concentrations, however, LBP is anti-inflammatory. Similarly, sCD14 participates in the inflammatory reaction by transfering LPS to mCD14 or the receptor complex. At high concentrations, however, sCD14 attenuates the ability of LPS to activate the receptor complex by transfering LPS into lipoporteins for clearance. LBP and sCD14 seem to be physiological control mechanisms that prevent harmful overreaction to LPS.

Endotoxin-associated gastrointestinal disease

In inflammatory bowel diseases, Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, systemic endotoxaemia is correlated with disease severity (Gardiner *et al.*, 1995; Pastor Rojo *et al.*, 2007). Endotoxaemia in these diseases is likely caused by increased intestinal permeability and inflammation of the gut wall (for review, see Arrieta *et al.*, 2006). Barrier dysfunction can also be observed in high-risk populations for Crohn's disease without any disease symptoms (Hollander *et al.*, 1986; Teahon *et al.*, 1992; May *et al.*, 1993; Munkholm *et al.*, 1994), indicating that impaired barrier function precedes disease onset. As one of the most used models of colitis, the interleukin-10 knock-out, does not develop colitis under germ-free conditions (Sellon *et al.*, 1998), inflammation could be suspected to be triggered by bacterial components.

Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is a functional gut disorder including diarrhea, constipation or both. It is usually diagnosed with a specific set of criteria called the Rome criteria (Engsbro *et al.*, 2013). There is consistent evidence indicating that intestinal permeability is increased especially in patients suffering the diarrhea-predominant form of IBS, facilitating mucosal inflammation (for review, see Camilleri *et al.*, 2012). Leaking of the gut is thought to contribute to symptom severity: Patients with increased intestinal permeability have both visceral and thermal hypersensitivity and they have a higher index of disorder severity (Zhou *et al.*, 2009a). It is unknown, however, whether gut endotoxins translocate into the circulation in these patients, or if inflammation is only local in the gut epithelium.

Gut-derived liver disease

One of the most investigated set of disorders related to gut barrier dysfunction are liver diseases, due to their direct relationship with the gut - the liver is the first organ to be hit by portal blood endotoxins. As reviewed by others in detail (Valenti et al., 2009; Seki and Schnabl, 2012), increased intestinal permeability is hypothesized to be a key trigger to the onset of alcoholic liver disease and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. As intestinal permeability is increased, translocated LPS bind to TLR-4 on the surface of Kupffer cells, hepatic macrophages, and induce the release of an array of cytokines causing liver damage. These preclinical observations are supported by data in humans. Patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease have elevated serum endotoxin levels (Harte et al., 2010; Volynets et al., 2012), and the degree of liver fat content is positively correlated with intestinal permeability (Miele et al., 2009). However, increased intestinal permeability does not correlate with the presence of steatohepatitis (Miele et al. 2009). This suggests that there are further triggers determining the pathological change from steatosis to hepatitis.

Other diseases of low-grade inflammation

Circulatory endotoxins that have leaked from the gut are associated with severe inflammation in human sepsis (for review, see Vollmar and Menger, 2011). Unlike sepsis, low-grade inflammation involves a small but significant systemic inflammatory response. It is now increasingly evident that endotoxins, presumably gut-derived, are involved in the pathogenesis of several diseases. These include not only the inflammatory diseases exclusive to the gut and liver, but also diseases characterized by inflammation in other organs – the pancreas in type 1 diabetes (for review, see Vaarala, 2008) and joints in rheumatological diseases (Vaile *et al.*, 1999; Picco *et al.*, 2000), as shown in human studies. Although the role of gut barrier function in other diseases characterized by low-grade inflammation has not yet been thoroughly investigated, there is a possibility that intestinal permeability plays a role in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. The association of barrier dysfunction and endotoxemia with type 2 diabetes and obesity has been described in animal models (Cani *et al.*, 2007a, 2007b, 2008), and evidence in obese pregnant women points to an association between elevated serum endotoxins and serum inflammatory markers, as well as macrophage infiltration in adipose tissue (Basu *et al.*, 2011). As shown in large human cohort studies, low-grade inflammation is an independent risk factor for type 2 diabetes (Dehghan *et al.*, 2007; Liu *et al.*, 2007; Wang and Hoy, 2007). Endotoxins are assumed to derive from the gut, and circulating endotoxins are linked to low-grade inflammation. It is then hypothesized that increased gut permeability is related to low-grade inflammation in humans.

2.2 Factors that affect intestinal permeability

2.2.1 Fiber and other microbiome-modulating agents

Dietary fiber exerts beneficial effects in the colon through its bacterial metabolite, the short-chain fatty acid butyrate (for review, see Hamer *et al.*, 2008). Insoluble fibers such as cellulose and lignin are not very well fermented by the microbiota, whereas soluble fibers (e.g. oligofructose, inulin, oat bran) are more readily fermented and produce greater amounts of butyrate in the colonic lumen. Orally administered butyrate decreases intestinal permeability to ^{99m}Tc-DTPA in mouse mucositis (Ferreira *et al.*, 2012) and reduces permeability of a Caco-2 cell culture by facilitating tight-junction assembly (Peng *et al.*, 2007, 2009).

Modulation of the gut microbiota, either by prebiotic carbohydrates or using probiotic bacteria or antibiotics, has an impact on barrier function. Oligofructose and gluco-oligosaccharde, two prebiotic fibers, increase luminal bifidobacteria and decrease endotoxemia in both genetically obese and high-fat-fed mice (Cani *et al.*, 2007a, 2009; Serino *et al.*, 2012) - an effect that seems to be mediated through glucagon-like peptide 2 (GLP-2) (Cani *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, oligofructose decreases permeability of the direct marker FITC dextran in genetically obese mice (Cani *et al.*, 2009). Although gut bifidobacteria are inversely correlated with endotoxemia (Cani *et al.*, 2007a, 2009), bifidobacteria have not been proven to improve gut barrier function. Thus it is unclear whether the prebiotic-induced improvement in barrier function is affected by increased bifidobacteria or some metabolite such as butyrate.

The gut microbiota itself is known to modulate barrier function. Antibiotic treatment blunts the detrimental effects of a high-fat diet on barrier dysfunction, endotoxemia and inflammation, as well as endotoxemia induced by genetic obesity (Cani *et al.*, 2008). The gut barrier may also be modulated by probiotics. Probiotics are viable, nonpathogenic organisms that are able to reach the intestines in sufficient numbers to confer benefit to the host. They affect epithelial barrier function by various mechanisms (for review, see Ohland and MacNaughton, 2010): by induction of mucus secretion, promoting host defensin and secretory immunoglobulin excretion, production of antimicrobial factors against pathogens, competing with pathogens for binding sites on the epithelium, and, finally, directly influencing tightjunction structures. One of the most studied probiotics, *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG (LGG), was reported to improve barrier function as measured by the lactulose/mannitol test in children with abdominal pain (Francavilla *et al.*, 2010). LGG can also prevent cow milk -induced barrier dysfunction in suckling rats (Isolauri *et al.*, 1993).

2.2.2 Dietary fat and obesity

The emerging concept

The link between obesity, gut barrier dysfunction and endotoxemia was recently suggested in genetically obese mice (Brun *et al.*, 2007). The authors reported decreased TER and increased HRP flux in the small intestine of ob/ob mice, as well as an elevated level of portal endotoxins. During the same year, a pioneering group from Belgium reported metabolic endotoxemia in mice fed a high-fat, carbohydrate-free diet (Cani *et al.*, 2007a, 2007b). These reports established the concept of barrier dysfunction in obesity, and Cani *et al.* (2008) later showed that a high-fat, carbohydrate-free diet increases the flux of FITC-dextran from the gastrointestinal tract to the circulation.

Obesity or dietary fat?

Since gut barrier function was shown to be altered in both obesity and on a diabetogenic high-fat diet (Brun *et al.*, 2007; Cani *et al.*, 2008), it was still unclear whether barrier dysfunction is caused by obesity or a high-fat diet. A specific challenge in rodent obesity research is the dietinduced obesity model, where animals become obese by eating a highfat diet (for review, see Hariri and Thibault, 2010). Although this model is very useful, it has not permitted the distinction between the effects of diet and expanding fat mass. Several studies over the past few years have been conducted in the field of dietary fat, obesity, barrier function and endotoxemia. These are summarized in Table 2. As barrier dysfunction is thought to be strongly linked with endotoxemia, studies with only plasma endotoxin analyses are also included.

After the initial report by Brun *et al.* (2007), results on the link between obesity and barrier dysfunction have been unclear (Cani *et al.*, 2008, 2009; Suzuki and Hara, 2010; Haub *et al.*, 2011). On the other hand, several reports have shown endotoxemia or increased gut permeability in designs that cannot distinguish between the effects of diet and obesity (Cani *et al.*, 2007a, 2007b, 2008; Everard *et al.*, 2012; Kim *et al.*, 2012; Kirpich *et al.*, 2012; de La Serre *et al.*, 2010; Laugerette *et al.*, 2012; Serino *et al.*, 2012). Only two studies have attempted to rule out the effect of obesity, and have reported an increased Cr-EDTA flux (Suzuki and Hara, 2010) or elevated serum endotoxins (Carvalho *et al.*, 2012) in animals fed with a high-fat diet.

Another noteworthy matter is that although endotoxemia may reflect barrier dysfunction, the possible alterations in LPS clearance may bias results (Teixeira et al., 2012a), as discussed previously on page 24. It is thus important to conduct studies using direct markers of intestinal permeability, and to specifically compare studies using permeability probes. Only seven studies have used direct markers of permeability. Most of them show a permeability-increasing effect for diet-induced obesity in rats or a diabetogenic diet in mice (Cani et al., 2008; de La Serre et al., 2010; Serino et al., 2012), but the two studies on the effects of obesity, not dietary fat, have reported opposite results (Brun et al., 2007; Suzuki and Hara, 2010) - Suzuki and Hara (2010) did not see any difference in permeability by genetic obesity. In rats, dietary lard seems to impair gut barrier function (De La Serre et al., 2010; Suzuki and Hara, 2010), and in mice two studies using an extreme diabetogenic high-fat diet have showed increased dextran flux (Cani et al., 2008; Serino et al., 2012). Studies using this diabetogenic diet,

ıg.	Reference	Brun <i>et</i> al., 2007	Cani <i>et</i> al., 2008	Cani <i>et</i> al., 2009	Suzuki and Hara, 2010	Haub <i>et</i> al., 2011	Suzuki and Hara 2010	Carvalho <i>et</i> al., 2012	
feedir	Effect	←	ċ/↓	<u>с</u> .	1	۰.	~	←	
) or endotoxemia in obesity and/ or high-fat	<u>Main results</u>	TER↓, HRP flux↑, portal endotoxins↑ in obese animals	Plasma endotoxins 8-fold, dextran not reported	Tight-junction localization at apical border was decreased by obesity, but improved by dietary fiber; prebiotics decreased plasma endotoxins and plasma dextran, but values for control are not reported	Genetic obesity had no effect on probe excretion at any time point	Portal endotoxins significantly elevated in first study set, but not in second; no difference in duodenal occludin	HF diet increased urinary probe excretion at 3, 9 and 15 weeks (+30% in lean, +200% in obese at 15 weeks)	Serum endotoxins 3-fold in HF vs. control	
ity (marked with bold)	Methods	TER, horseradish peroxidase <i>ex vivo</i> , portal endotoxins	Plasma endotoxins, FITC gavage for other study design	FITC gavage and detection after 1 and 4 h, plasma endotoxins, occludin and ZO-1 immunofluorescence	Cr-EDTA (weeks 9 and 15) and phenolsulfonphthalei n (week 3), gavage	Portal plasma endotoxins and duodenal occludin content	Cr-EDTA (weeks 9 and 15) and phenolsulfonphthalei n (week 3)	Serum endotoxins	
permeabil	Duration	12 w*	10 w*	11 w*	16 w	10-12 w*	16 w	12 w	
<u>l studies on intestinal</u>	Diet	SC	SC	SC and diets containing cellulose or prebiotics	SC and HF (mostly lard)	Not reported	SC and HF (mostly lard)	SC and pair-fed HF: 55 E% fat	
le 2. Anima	Animals	WT C57B1/6J, ob/ob and db/db mice	WT C57B1/6J and ob/ob mice	WT C57B1/6J and ob/ob mice	Genetically obese and lean rats	WT C57B1/6J and ob/ob mice	Genetically obese and lean rats	Swiss mice	
Tab		BESILK ONFX			C		ONLY HIGH-FAT DIET		

Cani <i>et al</i> , 2007a	Cani <i>et al</i> , 2007b	Cani <i>et</i> <i>a</i> l., 2008	De La Serre <i>et</i> al., 2010	Everard <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2012	Kim <i>et al.</i> , 2012	Kirpich <i>et</i> al., 2012	Laugerette <i>et al.</i> , 2012	Serino <i>et</i> al., 2012
\leftarrow	←	\leftarrow	←	\leftarrow	~	<u>с</u> .	ċ/↓	\leftarrow
Plasma endotoxins 1.8-fold in HF vs. control and decreased by prebiotic treatment	Plasma endotoxins two-fold in HF vs. control mice	HF vs. control: plasma endotoxins 2.5-fold, plasma dextran increased from zero to 0.3 μg/ml	Plasma endotoxins and dextran flux ~5- fold in high-fat obese vs. control lean rats, but not in obesity-resistant rats	Endotoxins ~2-fold in HF vs. control mice	Plasma endotoxins 1.9-fold in HF vs. control mice	No differences in endotoxemia or permeability by fat quality, but TJ expression was lower after unsaturated fat	Plasma endotoxins were elevated by the unsaturated fatty acids, not by the saturated fatty acids, but systemic inflammation was highest in the palm oil group	Plasma LPS +8%, intestinal permeability 1.5-2-fold, although non-significant in colon
Plasma endotoxins	Plasma endotoxins	4 kDa FITC gavage and detection after 1 h, plasma endotoxins	4 kDa FITC gavage, plasma endotoxins	Plasma endotoxins	Plasma endotoxins	Blood LPS, 4 kDa FITC in ileum <i>ex viv</i> o, TJ expression	Plasma endotoxins	4 kDa FITC dextran in ileum, caecum and colon <i>ex vivo</i> , plasma LPS
14 w	4 w	4 w	10-12 w	8 w	8 w	8 w	8 W	3 months
SC and HF: 72 E% fat (corn oil and lard), <1 E% carbohydrate	SC and HF: 72 E% fat (corn oil and lard), <1 E% carbohydrate	SC and HF: 72 E% fat (corn oil and lard), <1 E% carbohydrate	10 E% and 45 E% fat, mostly lard	SC and 45 E% fat, mostly lard	10 E% and 60 E% fat, mostly lard	40 E% fat, MCT- oil+beef tallow or corn oil, no low-fat control	Milk fat, palm oil, rapeseed oil or sunflower oil diet, 37.7 E% fat, and SC	SC and HF: 72 E% fat (corn oil and lard), <1 E% carbohydrate
C57B1/6J mice	C57B1/6J mice	C57B1/6J mice	Sprague- Dawley rats	C57Bl/6J mice	C57Bl/6J mice	C57B1/6N mice	C57B1/6 mice	C57Bl/6 mice
		LĂ	OBESI	INA T3	AT DIF	нісн-ғ		

however, have not been designed to study obesity and often do not report data for body weight. Thus, it cannot be ascertained that the reported effects are not attributable to the pathogenesis of diabetes.

Fat quality has not been studied using permeability probes. However, recent findings reveal the complexity of the effects of different fatty acids on endotoxemia and metabolic inflammation. Various serum factors are involved in LPS-induced signaling (see 2.1.6), namely LBP and sCD14. The relative proportions of these serum factors seem to determine the magnitude of the inflammatory response that LPS induces. In an 8-week dietary intervention with milk fat, palm oil, rapeseed oil or sunflower oil, the mice receiving palm oil had the highest levels of plasma and adipose tissue inflammatory markers, but no change in plasma endotoxins (Laugerette et al., 2012). On the contrary, mice receiving rapeseed oil had the highest levels of plasma endotoxins, but lowest level of the plasma inflammation marker interleukin-6. These converse inflammatory responses to endotoxemia were attributable to the level of soluble CD14, a plasma protein that binds endotoxins into a form that cannot trigger an inflammatory response. The rapeseed oil diet resulted in a higher ratio of soluble CD14 to LPS compared to the palm oil diet. These results highlight the need to study plasma carrier proteins and inflammation in parallel with plasma endotoxins, in order to draw accurate conclusions of the effects of diet on pathophysiological mechanisms.

To summarize, animal studies show increased intestinal permeability in models of diet-induced obesity, where the effects of obesity and a high-fat diet cannot be distinguished. Results on the independent effects of obesity are contradicting, and the effect of dietary fat, irrespective of obesity, has only been shown once in rats. Most dietary intervention studies in animals have utilized a high-fat diet with lard as the

principle fat source. Not many studies have addressed the matter of fat quality in gut barrier function.

Human studies

Human studies in the field of dietary fat, obesity and barrier function are scarce – only five studies have addressed this field. No difference in small or large bowel permeability was reported in a small pilot study containing 13 obese and 11 control subjects (Brignardello *et al.*, 2010). A 24h food intake recall revealed that there were no differences in dietary fat quantity or quality, which suggests a lack of effect for obesity, not dietary fat. Another study on obese subjects demonstrated a borderline non-significant correlation for body weight and body mass index for lactulose/mannitol excretion ratio (Teixeira *et al.*, 2012b). Dietary intake was not recorded. Interestingly, a study on obese patients with metabolic syndrome reported that the translocation of direct probes for both small and large intestine was increased in obese patients (Leber *et al.* 2012). Again, the possible role of dietary fat cannot be excluded.

The effects of dietary fat and fiber were studied in an elegant study by Pendyala *et al.* (2012), in which eight subjects were kept in metabolic wards for the duration of a cross-over intervention trial. A 1-month Western-style diet containing 40 E% fat (20.8 E% saturated fat) and only 12.5 g/day fiber increased endotoxemia by 71% compared to baseline, whereas a 1-month prudent diet containing 20 E% fat (5.8 E% saturated) and 31 g/day fiber decreased endotoxemia by 31% compared to baseline. The trial periods were separated by a wash-out period of one month, and the energy contents of the diets were identical. The authors discussed that it is unclear whether the interventions affected intestinal permeability or merely changed the composition of gut microbiota (Pendyala *et al.*, 2012). Finally, a Chinese cross-sectional study suggested that obesity was associated with a marker of endotoxemia, LBP, in healthy men (Sun *et al.*, 2010). To summarize, human studies do not clearly demonstrate a link between obesity or dietary fat and barrier dysfunction, although dietary changes appear to affect endotoxemia. In clinical settings it is more difficult to control for dietary fat intake, which may explain the small number of studies performed.

2.2.3 Other dietary components

Proteins and amino acids

The perhaps most well-known amino acid impacting gut function is glutamine, the primary energy source for enterocytes (Blachier et al., 2009). In a rat model of acute pancreatitis, this amino acid improves barrier function when given as a component of parenteral nutrition (Foitzik et al., 1997). Glutamine deprivation causes Caco-2 cell injury (Panigrahi et al., 1997), whereas glutamine supplementation protects Caco-2 cells from barrier dysfunction induced by media change (Li et al., 2003). In cancer patients, glutamine supplements may reduce barrier dysfunction induced by radiochemotherapy (Yoshida et al., 1998). Several milk protein components have also been suggested to confer beneficial effects on the gut barrier, although mostly reported in cell models. These milk protein components include hydrolyzed casein, which decreases permeability in diabetes-prone rats (Visser et al., 2010), a casein-derived peptide, Asn-Pro-Trp-Asp-Gln, which slightly but significantly increases TER and occludin levels in Caco-2 cells (Yasumatsu and Tanabe, 2010), and the major whey protein β lactoglobulin, which increases TER when Caco-2-cell tight-junctions are destabilized by culturing in serum-free media (Hashimoto et al., 1998). The arginine-rich nuclear protein protamine also improves barrier function in rat small intestine in vivo (Shi and Gisolfi, 1996). On the contrary, L-alanine and supraphysiological concentrations of tryptophan impair gut barrier in intestinal tissue of animals (Madara and Carlson, 1991; Sadowski and Meddings, 1993).
Alcohol

Alcoholic liver disease is well known to be characterized by gastrointestinal barrier dysfunction and endotoxemia in humans (for review, see Rao, 2009). It is clear that ethanol increases gastroduodenal permeability, but its role in barrier dysfunction in the distal intestine is unclear. Ethanol's primary metabolite, acetaldehyde, impairs intestinal barrier function at much lower concentration than ethanol itself. Such small concentrations are detected in rat feces. It is thus believed that barrier dysfunction in the distal gut is acetaldehyde-induced. Acetaldehyde accumulates in the colonic lumen, since the gut microbiota poorly metabolizes it further to acetate.

Zinc, flavonoids and gliadin

Zinc, flavonoids and gliadin have also been studied in terms of gut permeability, mostly in cell culture. Zinc has been proposed to have a role in barrier maintenance in cell cultures (Finamore *et al.*, 2008). Also, the flavonoid quercetin increases TER and decreases probe flux in Caco-2 cells (Amasheh *et al.*, 2008; Suzuki and Hara, 2009). Other flavonoids, epigallocatechin gallate in green tea (Watson *et al.*, 2004) and genistein in soy (Schmitz *et al.*, 1999), do not affect TER alone, but may be capable of preventing inflammation-induced barrier-disruption. Gliadin, the symptom-inflicting cereal component in celiac disease, decreases tissue resistance, causes reorganization of the cytoskeleton and compromises interactions of occludin and ZO-1 by inducing the production of barrier-toxic zonulin, as shown in patient tissue preparations and intestinal epithelial cell lines (Wang *et al.*, 2000; Clemente *et al.*, 2003; Drago *et al.*, 2006). These events are probable reasons for barrier impairment by gliadin in celiac disease.

2.2.4 Other factors

Age

Intestinal permeability varies during the human lifespan. Immediately after birth, the intestinal barrier is immature and highly permeable to macromolecules, but begins its rapid maturation once oral feeding is started (Weaver *et al.*, 1984). This happens much faster in neonates receiving human milk compared to formula-fed infants (Taylor *et al.*, 2009). In the elderly, intestinal permeability does not seem to be changed (Saweirs *et al.*, 1985; Riordan *et al.*, 1997).

Psychiatric stress

Because early life stress is related to later onset of irritable bowel syndrome in humans, the maternal separation rat model has become a popular tool for irritable bowel syndrome investigation (for review, see O'Mahony *et al.*, 2011). Maternally separated rats have been demonstrated to show increased permeability of the colon (Gareau *et al.*, 2007) and barrier dysfunction induced by water avoidance stress (Söderholm *et al.*, 2002). A role for the hypothalamus-derived corticotrophin-releasing hormone and the neural muscarinic and nicotinic receptors were suggested by these reports. The gut-brain axis is bidirectional: psychological stress alters gastrointestinal function, and inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract sends signals to the brain via the vagus nerve or a humoral pathway (O'Mahony *et al.*, 2011). The brain thus seems to have an important role in mediating gut function and barrier integrity.

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) such as acetyl salicylic acid and ibuprofein impair the gut barrier and may even cause ulcerations and perforation, accounting for the gastrointestinal sideeffects of these drugs (for review, see Tachecí et al., 2010). The drug may damage the epithelium several times: first locally upon administration, then systemically once absorbed, and again locally if the drug is eliminated with bile. Systemically, NSAIDs inhibit the cyclooxygenase enzyme, which produces barrier-protective Locally, NSAIDs disturb prostaglandins. mitochondrial energy metabolism and may induce nitric oxide release, which both contribute to gut barrier impairment in the rat.

Pathogens

The intestinal lumen is home to several commensal bacteria. Some strains of microbes, however, are pathogenic and may impair intestinal barrier function in preclinical studies by the disruption of tightjunctions and initiation of inflammatory cascades (for review, see Guttman and Finlay, 2009). These pathogens include bacteria such as Escherichia coli, Salmonella, Shiqella flexneri and the common cause of food poisoning, Clostridium perfringens, most of which attack the cell using effector proteins or enterotoxins. The viruses hepatitis C, the respiratory and gastrointestinal pathogen reovirus, and the common cause of viral gastroenteritis rotavirus, usually specifically target tightjunction proteins. In contrast, coxsackieviruses and adenoviruses use the coxsackie virus and adenovirus receptor for internalization and breakdown of the epithelial barrier. Interestingly, Vibrio cholerae has been discovered to use a bacterial surface protein, zonula occludens toxin, which increases probe flux and reduces TER in rabbit small intestine, but not in colon (Fasano et al., 1991, 1997).

Intestinal ischemia and radiation

Gut barrier function is impaired by several acute threats to the body, some of which increase the risk of sepsis. These include acute pancreatitis (for review, see Andersson and Wang, 1999), surgery (Roumen *et al.*, 1993; Bölke *et al.*, 2001) and burns (for review, see Magnotti and Deitch, 2005), which are all characterized by intestinal ischemia in human subjects. Ischemia leads to increased intestinal permeability, which precedes sepsis (for review, see Kong *et al.*, 1998). Another type of trauma to the gut is caused by radiation, which also impairs human gut barrier function (for review, see MacNaughton, 2000). Evidence from animal studies shows that this may occur even before cell cycle arrest and impaired cell renewal.

2.3 Luminal bile acids

2.3.1 Synthesis, transformation and absorption

Bile acid synthesis and regulation of the bile acid pool

Bile acids are synthesized from cholesterol in liver hepatocytes. The structures and synthesis of the most important bile acids are shown in Figure 3. Most bile acids, 75%, are synthesized by the classic or neutral pathway, in which the rate-limiting enzyme is the CYP7A1, which adds an a-hydroxyl group to carbon 7 in the sterol structure (for review, see Lefebvre et al., 2009). The human liver synthesizes two primary bile acids: cholic acid and chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) (for review, see Houten and Auwerx, 2008). In addition to these, the rodent liver produces a third species of primary bile acids, the muricholic acids, of which β -muricholic acid (3a,6 β ,7 β) is most prominent. The other stereoisomers are a-muricholic acid $(3a,6\beta,7a)$ and ω -muricholic acid $(3\alpha, 6\alpha, 7\beta)$. In rat liver, CDCA is metabolized into α -muricholic acid and, via a ketone intermediate, into β -muricholic acid (Botham and Boyd, 1983). Bile acids are secreted into bile as glycine and taurine conjugates, and stored in the gall bladder (for review, see Ridlon et al., 2006). Upon fat ingestion, cholecystokinin stimulates contractions of the gall bladder and bile flow to the duodenum.

The bile acid pool is regulated by Farnesoid X receptor (FXR), which is activated by bile acids in both the intestine and the liver (for review, see Chiang, 2009). In the intestine of mice, but not humans, FXR induces the expression of the apical sodium-dependent bile acid transporter (ASBT). The lack of ASBT causes bile acid malabsorption. FXR also upregulates the ileal bile acid binding protein (IBABP) and fibroblast growth factor 19 (FGF19), which signals form the intestine to the liver to downregulate CYP7A1, the key enzyme in bile acid synthesis. FXR thus has an undeniable role in bile acid traffic in the intestine, mainly by increasing the reuptake of bile acids. In the liver its role is the opposite - it downregulates CYP7A1 and bile acid

synthesis via FGF19- and small heterodimer partner (SHP)-dependent pathways. FXR plays a critical role in the coordination of bile acid homeostasis. An unbalance in this homeostasis may lead to bile acid related diseases such as cholestasis, where bile acids accumulate in the liver causing damage to liver cells. Interestingly, bile acids are also involved in metabolic regulation (for review, see Prawitt *et al.*, 2011) – bile acid sequestrants, such as cholestyramine, improve glycemic control in type 2 diabetic patients. The effects on glucose metabolism could be mediated through the bile acid receptor FXR, which guards liver glucose production. Another bile acid receptor, TGR-5, is suspected to take part in energy metabolism, possibly affecting weight gain in animals.

Modification of bile acids by intestinal microbiota

Bile acids are very efficiently absorbed from the ileum and transported to the liver for reuse (Houten and Auwerx, 2008). This cycle is called the enterohepatic circulation. However, a small number of bile acids flow to the large intestine, where the bile salt hydrolases of gut microbes cleave them into their deconjugated form (Ridlon *et al.*, 2006). Deconjugated bile acids are much more hydrophobic and on-go passive absorption from the colon.

Gut microbes contain enzymes capable of oxidation and epimerization of bile acids (Ridlon *et al.*, 2006). The most important of these is the 7 α -hydroxylase, which produces the secondary bile acids deoxycholic acid (DCA) and lithocholic acid from their primary forms cholic acid and CDCA. This pathway is estimated to be found only in 0.0001% of colonic flora, in species of the *Clostridium* genus (Lefebvre *et al.*, 2009). Human liver is unable to 7 α -hydroxylate the secondary bile acids back into their respective primary forms (Ridlon *et al.*, 2006). Thus, DCA accumulates in the bile acid pool. Lithocholic acid is sulphated and lost in feces, and does not accumulate in the enterohepatic circulation. In rodents, the secondary bile acids are rehydroxylated by the liver and are not present in primary bile (Lefebvre *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 3. Synthesis and metabolism of the most important bile acids. Dashed lines represent intermediate metabolites. The higher the hydrophobicity index (HIx), the more hydrophobic the structure is.

Ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) is one of the most hydrophilic bile acids. It comprises only two per cent of both biliary and fecal bile acids in humans (Ridlon et al., 2006). In bears it is one of the main bile acids (Houten and Auwerx, 2008), hence the name "urso". Because the enzymes producing UDCA are unelucidated, it is unclear whether this bile acid is solely produced by gut microbiota, or if liver may contribute to its synthesis. UDCA is a 7β -hydroxy epimer of CDCA, which also appears to be its precursor - the synthesis of UDCA is inducible by administration of CDCA (Salen et al., 1974). Furthermore, intravenously injected radiolabeled CDCA results in the redistribution of the label between CDCA and UDCA, which provides evidence that CDCA is transformed into ursodeoxycholic acid via 7-ketolithocholic acid (Salen et al., 1974). The bacterial species metabolizing CDCA to 7ketolithocholic acid were only recently elucidated (Fukiya et al., 2009). UDCA is sometimes called a tertiary bile acid, since it is not directly synthesized from the primary bile acids.

2.3.2 How does diet modulate the luminal bile acid pool?

There are several ways in which diet may affect the luminal bile acid pool. The most evident modifications are in the concentration and daily excretion of bile acids. Although useful, these parameters give only a rough estimate of how luminal bile acids could affect the gastrointestinal tract. The bile acid pool comprises several different bile acid structures that vary for example in hydrophobicity (Heuman, 1989) and their ability to bind receptor molecules (Lefebvre *et al.*, 2009). It is then important to not only study the quantity, but also the quality of luminal bile acids. Furthermore, the gut lumen contains agents such as fibers that bind bile acids (Huang *et al.*, 1978), possibly into a non-toxic form. If the bias caused by these agents cannot be ruled out in a study design, the cytotoxicity of fecal water (the aqueous phase in feces) should also be analyzed.

Dietary fat

An early report in the 70's concluded that increasing fat intake resulted in higher bile acid excretion in feces (Reddy *et al.*, 1977). Similar results were later obtained in a population study (Reddy, 1981), a controlled clinical trial (Cummings *et al.*, 1978) and in mice (Bianchini *et al.*, 1989). Unsaturated corn oil has been shown to increase bile acid excretion compared to saturated cocoa butter (Connor *et al.*, 1969). It was hypothesized that the bile acid excretion promoted by unsaturated fat is related to the serum cholesterol lowering effect of the same fatty acids. However, Reddy *et al.* (1977) noted no such effect for fat quality (corn oil or lard).

Fat quality, in humans and monkeys, does not seem to affect bile composition in the gallbladder (Tanaka *et al.*, 1976; Scobey *et al.*, 1992; Yago *et al.*, 2005). It may, however, affect the profile of bile acids in feces (Reddy *et al.*, 1977, Sato *et al.* 1987; Monsma *et al.*, 1996; Reddy *et al.*, 1996). To compare results from the published papers in the present review, a hydrophobicity index was calculated from the data given by these reports. The index was calculated as a percentage-weighted mean of hydrophobicities, as previously reported by Heuman (1989). Reddy *et al.* (1996) did not report values for UDCA, thus the indices for that study were calculated without UDCA. A high hydrophobicity index reflects a high content of secondary bile acids, which are potentially harmful to the intestinal mucosa (Reddy, 1981). The calculated indices are reviewed in Table 3.

Total dietary fat content (w/w)	Fat type	Hydrophobicity index	Reference		
	5% corn oil	0.464			
5%	5% lard	0.482	Dodday at $a1.1077$		
20%	20% corn oil	0.601	Reduy et al. 1977		
	20% lard	0.650			
	Corn oil	0.719			
	Rapeseed oil	0.627			
200/	Sesame oil	0.608	0 / / 1 1007		
20%	Soybean oil	0.299	Sato <i>et al</i> . 1987		
	Pork lard	0.797			
	Beef tallow	0.755			
	Corn oil	0.597			
1 (0/	Pork lard	0.462	M (1.100C		
10%	Beef tallow	0.265	Monsma <i>et al</i> . 1996		
	Cocoa butter	0.235			
50/	Low fat corn oil	0.560			
0r	High-fat corn oil	0.657	Reddy <i>et al.</i> 1996		
23.3%	High-fat fish oil	0.500	icity Reference Reddy et al. 1977 Sato et al. 1987 Monsma et al. 1996 Reddy et al. 1996		

Table 3. Effect of fat quality on fecal bile acid hydrophobicity in rats.

The percentage-weighted hydrophobicity index (HIx) was calculated from data provided by the references using the hydrophobicities published by Heuman 1989 for lithocholic acid, deoxycholic acid, chenodeoxycholic acid, cholic acid, ursodeoxycholic acid and β -muricholic acid. As Reddy *et al.* (1996) did not provide data for ursodeoxycholic acid, it was not included in the calculations for that study.

Data of the effect of fat quality on fecal bile acid hydrophobicity is controversial. According to data by Reddy *et al.* (1977) and Sato *et al.* (1987), saturated fat feeding increased the hydrophobicity index of feces. In contrast, Monsma *et al.* (1996) reported a lower hydrophobicity index after saturated fat feeding. Data from Reddy *et al.* (1977; 1996) suggest that increased dietary fat increases fecal bile acid

hydrophobicity, while a high-fat fish oil diet did not affect hydrophobicity compared to the low-fat control. Without raw data and statistical analysis, these values should be reviewed only with caution and definite conclusions should not be drawn.

Dietary fat quality may also affect concentration of bile acids in fecal water. In a study by Lapré *et al.* (1993), rats fed with palm oil or milk fat excreted more bile acids and had a higher bile acid concentration in fecal water compared to rats fed with corn oil. Fecal water cytotoxicity was highest in the palm oil group.

To summarize, data on how dietary fat quality affects bile excretion are somewhat controversial. Increasing fat quantity results in higher bile acid excretion. The effect of fat quality on bile acid profile, however, is still debated.

Cholesterol

In studies investigating the effects of animal fat and vegetable fat on bile acid excretion, the diet high in animal fat is also high in cholesterol. This does not, however, seem to confound the data since even a 30-fold increase in dietary cholesterol has no significant effect on fecal bile acid concentration in humans (Wilson and Lindsey, 1965). Excess cholesterol is mainly excreted as neutral sterols, not by conversion to bile acids (Quintão *et al.*, 1971).

Dietary fiber

The main action of dietary fiber on the luminal bile acid pool is its diluting effect. Bile acid excretion was investigated in two populations, Kuopio (Finland) and New York, with an equal fat and protein intake, but with a 3-fold higher fiber intake in Kuopio (Reddy *et al.*, 1978). Daily excretion of secondary bile acids was not altered, perhaps because of equal fat intake in the two study populations. The concentration of those bile acids, however, was decreased in the Kuopio population. Dietary fiber is thus associated with increased stool

bulk and decreased fecal bile acid concentration, suggesting a dilutive effect for secondary bile acids. In a controlled trial of 34 men, a highfiber diet containing different sources of soluble and insoluble fiber was compared to a low-fiber diet with similar fat content (Kesäniemi et al., 1990). The high-fiber diet increased bile acid excretion, when calculated per day. This supports the hypothesis that fiber binds luminal bile acids, enhancing excretion. The quality of dietary fiber may affect its impact on bile acid excretion in humans and animals (for review, see Huang et al., 1978). Hemicellulose and pectin bind to bile acids and may increase their excretion which is proposedly accompanied by a decrease in serum cholesterol. In rats and hamsters, inulin, beta-cyclodextrin and psyllium enhance bile acid excretion, whereas guar gum and pectin have no effect (Levrat et al., 1994; Trautwein et al., 1998a, 1998b). Furthermore, fiber-rich food items may induce changes in bile acid profile. Bran feeding may reduce 7adehydroxylation of bile acid into their secondary forms, although not all studies support this result (Huang et al., 1978). There is also some evidence that cellulose, pectin, konjac glucomannan and inulin reduce fecal water concentrations of secondary bile acids and its cytotoxicity to Caco-2 cells (Chen et al., 2010). The effects of different fibers on luminal bile acid profile and cytotoxicity in vivo have not been studied.

Other dietary ingredients

Although animal products alter bile excretion, it seems to be the fat, not the protein that is effective - animal proteins have no effect on bile acid excretion (for review, see Reddy, 1981).

Dietary calcium has been suggested to protect from colonic cancer by precipitating toxic bile acids in the gut lumen. In a human placebocontrolled trial, high calcium intake decreased the concentration of secondary bile acids in fecal water and reduced fecal water cytotoxicity (Govers *et al.*, 1996). The daily output of bile acids was increased, which also suggests bile acid binding by calcium. Very similar results have been obtained in rats: Calcium phosphate supplementation increased fecal bile acid excretion, but decreased fecal water cytotoxicity and concentration of bile acids (Lapré *et al.*, 1993). Another rat study with lower dietary calcium levels has shown contrasting results (Lupton *et al.*, 1994); increasing calcium phosphate intake reduced the excretion of total bile acids, while increasing fecal fat excretion. Fecal water was not analyzed for bile acids or cytotoxicity. A more recent human study shows that calcium increases excretion of bile acids, but has no effect on fecal water genotoxicity (Ditscheid *et al.*, 2009). There is, therefore, no consensus on whether calcium is able to precipitate luminal bile acids into a less cytotoxic form.

2.3.3 Bile acids and epithelial permeability

The earliest study on the effects of bile acids on intestinal permeability was published in 1972, but reported no difference in mucosal permeability to ¹⁴C-thiourea (Sladen and Harries, 1972). Later studies with other molecular probes mostly disagree. Due to the surfactant effect of bile acids, it was no surprise that unconjugated bile acids, especially DCA and CDCA, reversibly increase intestinal permeability to various probes at 1-21 mM concentrations in the rat (Fihn et al., 2003; Goerg et al., 1980, 1983; Gyory and Chang, 1983; Sun et al., 2004a, 2004b), the rabbit (Chadwick et al., 1979; Fasano et al., 1990) and the pig (Argenzio and Whipp, 1983; Henrikson et al., 1989), with contrasting results on CDCA (Hollander et al., 1989). In human biopsies of sigmoid colon, 1 mM CDCA or 0.5-1 mM DCA increased permeability to Cr-EDTA, but translocation of horseraddish peroxidase was unaltered (Münch et al., 2007). Later the same group observed that colonic biopsies from colitis patients in remission responded to 100 µM DCA or CDCA by an increased translocation of E. coli bacteria, but without any change in TER (Münch et al., 2011). In human subjects in vivo. а 750 mg bolus of CDCA increased lactulose/rhamnose ratio indicating increased intestinal an permeability (Van Nieuwenhoven et al., 1999). The barrier disrupting effect of bile acids, especially DCA and CDCA is thus well shown at various concentrations ranging between 0.5-21 mM.

Comparisons of bile acid structures in their potency to impair barrier function have mainly been studied in the Caco-2 cell model. In this cell model, the applied concentrations, 50-250 μ M, are much smaller than for whole tissue. At 200 μ M, all bile acids irrespective of hydrophobicity, seem to decrease TER (Araki *et al.*, 2005), but at 50 μ M some differences between bile acid species were seen: cholic acid, CDCA and DCA increased dextran flux, but UDCA had no effect (Raimondi *et al.*, 2008). Hughes *et al.* (2008) have also shown a clear barrier-disruption by the secondary bile acids DCA and lithocholic acid, whereas data for cholic acid and CDCA are not as consistent. In rabbit colon, only DCA and CDCA increased permeability at 5 mM, whereas cholic acid and ursodeoxycholic acid did not (Chadwick *et al.*, 1979).

Translocation pathway activation has been investigated by a mixture of cholic acid, DCA and taurocholic acid at equimolar concentrations (Catalioto *et al.*, 2008). The mixture was applied onto Caco-2 cells at concentrations ranging between 0.5-4.5 mM, and three markers of permeability were used: lucifer yellow for paracellular transport, propranolol for transcellular transport and phenylalanine for active transport. The bile acid mixture was shown to upregulate the paracellular pathway only.

There are some indications of the mechanism of bile acid -induced barrier dysfunction. Whereas some studies have indicated an important role for the enteric nervous system (Fihn *et al.*, 2003; Sun *et al.*, 2003, 2004a) and nitric oxide (Sun *et al.*, 2004b) in bile acid - induced barrier dysfunction in rat *in vivo*, cell studies have investigated the direct effects of bile acids on the epithelial layer. In Caco-2 cells, barrier disruption has been suggested to be mediated through production of reactive oxygen species (Araki *et al.*, 2005) or epithelial growth factor receptor activation and occludin dephosphorylation and rearrangement (Raimondi *et al.*, 2008), but not via changes in occludin content (Hughes *et al.*, 2008).

Increased bile flow has been proposed as a mechanism for barrier dysfunction in high-fat feeding (Suzuki and Hara, 2010). However, the group could show increased permeability in Caco-2 cells only at a high concentration of gallbladder bile. The effects of different luminal bile acids, also colonic bile acids, and the possible alterations of bile acid profile in high-fat feeding and barrier dysfunction were not investigated.

To summarize, the concept of individual bile acids increasing epithelial permeability is old, but little is still known of the effects of different bile acid structures and their mechanisms of action in intact tissue. Data comparing the effects of different bile acids are limited to cell studies, and an approach to study the possible barrier-disrupting effects of alterations of the entire bile acid pool is still missing.

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

Impaired gut barrier function predisposes to several inflammationrelated pathologies, such as inflammatory bowel diseases and fatty liver disease, which are proposed to develop when increased gut permeability allows leakage of endotoxins into circulation. In this study, the possible link between dietary fat and obesity, bile acids and barrier dysfunction was investigated in mouse models of diet-induced obesity and genetic obesity, as well as *in vitro*.

The specific aims were:

- To study whether barrier dysfunction is caused by obesity or dietary fat only, using diet-induced obese mice on a high-fat diet and genetically obese mice on a normal chow diet. (Studies I and II)
- ii. To investigate whether dietary fat quantity or quality, or obesity as such, affect luminal bile acid profile and hydrophobicity. (Studies I, II and IV)
- iii. To define the possible role of hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity of bile acids in altering intestinal permeability using tissue preparations in an Ussing chamber and a feeding trial in mice. (Studies I and III)

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Experimental animals and study designs

All animals were obtained from Charles River: mice of the C57Bl/6J strain (Studies I-IV; Sulzfeld, Germany) and of the ob/ob strain (Study II; Calco, Italy). Mice were acclimatized for one week prior to experiments. They were housed in a 12 h/12 h light/dark environment with food and water *ad libitum*. Animal experiments were approved by the National Animal Experiment Board of Finland (ESAVI-2010-03684/Ym-23 and ESAVI-6806-04.10.03-2011). Main research questions, mouse strains and diets for the individual studies are summarized in Table 4.

In Study I mice were on a low-fat control diet or a high-fat diet for 15 weeks until intestinal permeability was measured from tissue segments in the Ussing chamber with 4 kDa FITC dextran. Fecal samples for bile acid analysis were collected at week 13.

In Study II fecal samples from ten 13-week-old C57Bl/6J mice and from seven ob/ob mice of the same age and background were collected for bile acid analysis. Mice were euthanized at week 15 for sample collection and measurement of intestinal permeability in the Ussing chamber with 4 kDa FITC dextran.

Study III included *in vitro* experiments, where DCA and/or UDCA were incubated with tissue preparations in the Ussing chamber before measurement of intestinal permeability (designs described in detail on page 57). Also, a 10-week DCA feeding experiment *in vivo* was included in this study. In the feeding trial, mice were divided into two groups: control and control diet with 0.2% DCA. Since the mice receiving DCA lost weight during the first week of the experiment, the dose was halved to 0.1%. Mice were euthanized at two time points: week 5 (n = 6+6) and week 10 (n = 6+6). Intestinal permeability was measured *in vivo* at the time of euthanasia.

In Study IV mice were divided into the following four groups:

- Control: control diet, no colitis
- DSS control: control diet, DSS colitis
- Lard DSS: high-lard diet, DSS colitis
- Fish oil DSS: high-fish oil diet, DSS colitis

DSS colitis was induced with dextran sulphate sodium (MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA, USA) as a 5% solution in drinking water for two days, followed by two days of tap water. The fat sources of the study diets were as follows:

- Control diet, 10 E% fat: 5.5 E% soy oil, 4.5 E% lard
- Lard diet, 60 E% fat: 5.5 E% soy oil, 54.5 E% lard
- Fish oil diet, 60 E% fat: 5.5 E% soy oil, 27.2 E% lard,
 27.2 E% menhaden oil

Table	4. Summary of the study	y designs				
Study	Main research questions	Duration	Group	Animals	N	Diet
F	Does fat-induced obesity increase gut	15 w	Control	& C57B1/6J mice	24	10 E% fat, D12450B, Research Diets, USA
•	permeability? Is bile acid profile altered?		High-fat	Ξ	26	60 E% fat, D12492, Research Diets, USA
Ħ	Does obesity without a high-fat diet imnair	15 w	Wild-type	3 C57B1/6J mice	10	CRM(E), SDS, Essex, United Kingdom
1	barrier function?	:) 1	Obese	♂ ob/ob mice	7	=
	Do bile acids disrupt the gut barrier <i>in vitro</i> ?	I	Designs of <i>in vitro</i> studies, page 57	ර්/ද C57Bl/6J mice, ර් Wistar rats		CRM(E), SDS, Essex, United Kingdom
Ш	Does DCA impair barrier	10	Control	3 C57B1/6J mice	6 per time point	Lantmännen lantbruk R36 (Stockholm, Sweden)
	function <i>in vivo?</i>	M 01 / 0	0.1% DCA	z	6 per time point	As control, suplemented with 0.1% DCA
			Control	d C57B1/6J mice	10	10 E% fat, D12450B
	Are there differences in the effects of lard and fish oil on fecal bile acid		DSS-Control	÷	10	10 E% fat, D12450B
21	profile? Do they affect susceptibility to experimental colitis?	≥ †	DSS-Lard	÷	10	60 E% fat, D12492
	4		DSS-Fish oil	Ξ	10	60 E% fat, D09020506

For the fish oil diet, half of the fat not accounting for soy oil was lard and half menhaden oil, to be able to pellet the diet. Feces were collected in metabolic cages before colitis induction. At the end of the study, intestinal permeability was measured *in vivo* and *ex vivo* with fluorescein in an Ussing chamber. Jejunum and colon were collected for further analysis of TNF-alpha. The study design is illustrated in Figure 4.

Week 1	Week 2	Week 3		Week 4
Dietary interven	tion		1	DSS colitis

Figure 4. The design of Study IV. Animals were fed with low-fat and high-fat (lard/fish oil) diets for the entire duration of the study. DSS colitis was induced during the final four days. The round-headed arrow represents the time point where fecal samples were collected in metabolic cages.

4.2 Tissue collection

Mice were euthanized with a gas mixture of CO_2 (70%) and O_2 (30%) (AGA, Riihimäki, Finland) and cervical dislocation (Studies I-II) or decapitation, in the experiments with terminal blood sampling (Studies II-IV).

Fresh segments of intestine for Ussing chamber experiments were collected by carefully removing mesenteric fat. No muscle layers were removed for the Ussing chamber experiments. The first two segments of the small intestine after the pylorus were determined to be duodenum and the last two segments ileum. Jejunum was collected by folding the small intestine into a loop with the proximal duodenum and ileum side-by-side, and dissecting the two middle-most segments for the Ussing chamber. The two most proximal segments of the colon were called proximal colon and the two most distal segments distal colon, however, the colon is only long enough for three Ussing chamber segments. In Studies I, II and III, segments from each area of the intestine were collected in duplicate. Since only four Ussing chambers were available for Study I, permeability could only be measured from two intestinal locations from each mouse. Segments from the following locations were collected:

- Study I: duodenum, jejunum, ileum and proximal colon
- Study II: jejunum and distal colon
- Study III: jejunum and distal colon
- Study IV: proximal colon

Tissue specimens for protein or gene expression analysis were snapfrozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

4.3 Ussing chamber experiments

Intestinal segments were opened along the mesenteric border, pinned onto 0.3cm² sliders and mounted into an EasyMount Ussing chamber system with a voltage-clamp apparatus (Physiologic Instruments, CA, USA). Tissues were surrounded by 5 ml Ringer solution on each side (120 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 1.8 mM Na₂HPO₄, 0.2 mM NaH₂PO₄, 1.25 mM CaCl₂, 1 mM MgSO₄, 10 mM glucose) and waterjacketed to 37°C. The system was carbonated with a carbogen (95% O₂, 5% CO₂, AGA, Riihimäki, Finland) gas flow to a pH of 7.4. The system was allowed to equilibrate for a minimum of 10 min before experiments.

For measurement of intestinal permeability, 4 kDa FITC-dextran (TdB Cons, Uppsala, Sweden) was added to the luminal side to a final concentration of 2.2 mg/ml (Studies I, II and III), or for fluorescein (Study IV) measurements to a concentration of 2 μ g/ml. Serosal samples were taken at 45 min. Serosal fluorescence was detected with a Wallac Victor² 1420 Multilabel counter (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA) using an excitation/emission of 493/518 nm. Results were obtained by comparing serosal fluorescence to luminal fluorescence and expressed as per mille (1/1000) translocated dextran. Tissue resistance and short-circuit current were monitored throughout the experiments.

4.4 In vitro bile acid experiments

The barrier-altering effects of two bile acids different in hydrophobicity, DCA and UDCA, were investigated *in vitro* in an Ussing chamber (study III). The designs of the *in vitro* studies are presented below. Both jejunum and colon were used in designs 1-3.

Design 1: Dose-dependence studies

The effects of sodium deoxycholic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and ursodeoxycholic acid (Leiras Ltd, Helsinki, Finland) on barrier function were tested with five concentrations for each bile acid: 0, 0.03, 0.3, 1 and 3 mM. Bile acids had no effect on the pH of Ringer solutions, nor did they induce cell death, measured as lactate dehydrogenase activity, which could have caused misinterpretations of the data. Intestinal permeability was measured with 4 kDa FITC dextran. Using a larger molecular weight dextran (20 kDa FITC dextran, TdB Cons), six experiments were conducted with the concentrations 0, 1 and 3 mM for only DCA. The bile acid -induced changes in tissue resistance were calculated from all experiments containing 0, 1 and 3 mM DCA.

Design 2: UDCA in DCA-induced barrier dysfunction

To test the possible protective effect of UDCA in DCA-induced barrier defect, luminal DCA (3 mM) was used with four different concentrations of UDCA: 0.1, 0.3, 0.6 and 1 mM. Permeability was measured with 4 kDa FITC dextran.

Design 3: Dexamethasone treatment

To investigate whether the permeability-inducing effect of DCA is inflammation-dependent, we used 1 μ M water soluble dexamethasone (D2915, Sigma-Aldrich) on the luminal side of the tissue segment. The drug was co-incubated with 3 mM DCA for 20 min before a wash and permeability measurements with 4 kDA FITC dextran.

Design 4: LPS and intestinal permeability

To test the hypothesis that LPS aggravates DCA-induced barrier dysfunction, but does not increase intestinal permeability alone, a barrier defect was induced with 3 mM DCA for 20 min. The bile acid was washed from the chambers twice with Ringer solution before adding LPS from *Escherichia coli* O55:B5 (L2880, Sigma-Aldrich) at the concentrations 0.5, 1.5 and 4.5 μ g/ml for 60 min. To test whether LPS has an effect on intestinal permeability independently of DCA, 0.5 and 4.5 μ g/ml LPS was incubated with segments preincubated with Ringer solution only. Similar experiments were performed with 1 and 5 μ g/ml in colon segments from Wistar rats. Permeability was measured with 4 kDa FITC dextran.

Tissue preparation for protein analyses

Distal colon was dissected from male and female 12-13-week-old C57Bl/6J mice (Charles River). The mice were euthanized with a gas mixture of 70% CO_2 / 30% O_2 (AGA) and cervical dislocation. The distal colon was cut into four segments, each of which were placed in one of four solutions: 1) Ringer, 2) Ringer with 3 mM DCA, 3) Ringer with 3 mM DCA and 0.3 mM UDCA, and 4) Ringer with 3 mM DCA and 0.6 mM UDCA. Segments were incubated for 20 min at 37°C, until either snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored in -80°C for Western blot analysis of COX-2, or fixed in 10% neutral buffered formaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich) for 24-48 h and embedded in paraffin for immunohistochemistry or hematoxylin-eosin staining.

4.5 Measurement of intestinal permeability in vivo

Permeability of the whole intestine was measured *in vivo* in Studies III and IV. Mice were fasted overnight and gavaged with 500 mg/kg FITC dextran (4000 Da; TdB Cons). After exactly 4 h the mouse was euthanized and blood was collected by decapitation into an Eppendorf tube. Serum was separated by centrifugation (15 min, 1000 g) and diluted to 1/5 into phosphate-buffered saline. Fluorescence was

detected with a Wallac Victor² 1420 Multilabel counter (Perkin Elmer), using excitation/emission of 493/518 nm.

4.6 Fecal bile acid analyses

Feces were collected from each mouse in individual metabolic cages (Studies I, II and IV). Feed and water was provided ad libitum. Feces were carefully separated from all other material and frozen at -20°C. Upon analysis, fecal samples were dried overnight with a nitrogen gas flow and pulverized. Bile acids were extracted and analyzed for all fecal bile acids by gas-liquid chromatography according to a previously described method (Grundy et al., 1965). Internal standards were run to identify isolithocholic acid, lithocholic acid, epideoxycholic acid, deoxycholic acid, chenodeoxycholic acid, cholic acid, β-muricholic and ursodeoxycholic acid. The proportions of these bile acids were calculated as a percentage of total bile acids, both identified and unidentified. An index for fecal bile acid hydrophobicity was calculated (Studies II, IV and unpublished data from Study I) as a percentageweighted mean of the hydrophobicities of six bile acids - lithocholic acid. deoxycholic acid. chenodeoxycholic acid. cholic acid. ursodeoxycholic acid and β -muricholic acid – according to a previous report (Heuman, 1989), using estimated values for lithocholic acid (1.13) and muricholic acid (-0.65). A value for daily bile acid excretion was calculated from bile acid concentrations and metabolic cage data for daily fecal excretion.

4.7 Biochemical analyses

Gene expression analyses (Study II)

RNA was extracted from tissue with Trizol reagent. RNA was converted to cDNA with an iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions, using 1µg of RNA in a reaction volume of 20µl. Reactions for quantitative polymerase chain reaction were run using TaqMan chemistry (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA, USA) for FXR (Mm00436420_m1), and LBP (Mm00493139_m1). Gene expressions were normalized to beta-actin. Reactions were run on a CFX96 (Bio-Rad) in triplicate. Gene expression was calculated with Bio-Rad CFX Manager software using the normalized expression $\Delta\Delta$ C(t) method.

Western blot analysis (Study III)

Western blot -analyses were performed using the following antibodies: mouse occludin 1:350 (33-1500, Invitrogen, Life Technologies, Paisley, United Kingdom), anti-mouse 1:200 (HAF007, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), rabbit β -actin 1:300 (#4967S, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA), anti-rabbit 1:500 (#170-6515, Bio-Rad), goat COX-2 1:200 (sc-1747, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and anti-goat 1:2000 (sc-2020, Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Occludin was blotted from four tissue preparations per group, whereas COX-2 was blotted from seven tissue preparations per group.

Immunohistochemistry (Study III)

Immunohistochemistery was performed using the following antibodies: mouse anti-occludin (33-1500, Invitrogen), anti-mouse FITC (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamino-2-phenylindole (DAPI).

Tissue TNF-alpha analysis (Study IV)

Tissue TNF-alpha was quantified using tissue homogenates in a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (RBMS607/2R, BioVendor, Brno, Czech Republic) in a single run (CV 4.3%), and data were expressed as pg/mg protein.

Serological analyses

In Study II, serum LBP was analysed using a commercial ELISA for mouse LBP (HK205, Hycult biotech, Uden, The Netherlands) in a single

run (CV 3.6%). Serum cholesterol precursors desmosterol and lathosterol, which reflect whole body cholesterol synthesis, and cholestanol and campesterol, which reflect cholesterol absorption efficiency also in animal studies (Pirinen *et al.*, 2010), were quantified with gas liquid chromatography on a 50-m long capillary column (Ultra 2; Agilent Technologies; Wilmington, DE) using 5a-cholestane as internal standard (Miettinen, 1988). The values are expressed as ratios to cholesterol of the same run ($10^2 \mu g/mg$ cholesterol).

4.8 Scores for diarrhea and colonic inflammation

In Study IV, the severity of DSS colitis was evaluated during the last four days of the study with a subjective score for the severity of diarrhea in mice. The score was defined using the following five classes: 0 = no symptoms, 1 = blood at rectal area, 2 = bloody excrement, 3 = massive bloody diarrhea, 4 = animal deceased.

At euthanasia, the entire colon was dissected, opened and flushed free of intestinal contents. The preparation was pinned onto a silicon dish and photographed. Three experienced evaluators blindedly scored the samples for a general inflamed appearance using a VAS line (0-100).

4.9 Data analysis

All differences between groups were analyzed non-parametrically with Mann-Whitney U test. In the case of several groups, global differences were first analyzed with Kruskall-Wallis test. If global P < 0.05, differences were analyzed with Mann-Whitney U test.

Intestinal permeability could only be measured from two locations in each mouse. To correlate all bile acid analyses to intestinal permeability, an average of intestinal permeability in the two segments measured from each mouse was calculated and correlated to hydrophobicity index. All correlations were calculated as the nonparametric Spearman's rho. For data on *in vivo* feeding of DCA, results were analyzed with a 2x2 factorial test (Univariate analysis of variance), since the study contained two fixed factors: diet (control and DCA) and duration (5 and 10 weeks). This test shows the independent effect of these two factors and any possible interaction.

For experiments with DCA and LPS on rat intestine, the data were analyzed by a professional statistician with the Generalized Estimating Equations -method. DCA+LPS groups were compared to the DCA control, and LPS groups were compared to Ringer only. For mouse tissue, differences for all pairs were analyzed with the non-parametric paired Wilcoxon test.

Statistical analyses for all studies were performed with PASW Statistics version 18.0.2 (IBM, Armonk, NY USA). All data are expressed as median (interquartile range) unless otherwise stated, and all P-values are expressed two-sided.

5 RESULTS

5.1 Body weight of mice in dietary interventions

After a 15-week high-fat feeding (Study I), the high-fat mice weighed approximately double compared to control mice [50.5 g (47.2,51.6) for high-fat, 28.8 g (27.4, 30.3) for control, P < 0.001]. In Study II, 15-week-old ob/ob mice were approximately the weight of the high-fat-fed mice [54.0 g (51.9, 54.7)], also double that of the wild-type mice [26.3 g (24.1, 28.5), P < 0.001). In the four-week feeding trial with a high-fat lard diet, high-fat lard-fish oil diet and a low-fat control diet (Study IV), high-fat groups weighed slightly more than the control groups at week three, the time of bile acid collection [25.4 g (23.7, 26.6) for control, 29.2 g (27.2, 31.6) for lard, 28.6 g (27.4, 29.4) for fish oil, P < 0.01 for both high-fat groups (P = 0.24).

5.2 Effects of dietary fat and obesity on gut barrier function

Dietary fat -induced obesity increased dextran translocation in jejunum and colon (Study I)

High-fat-feeding increased intestinal permeability significantly in jejunum (median 0.334 per mille translocated dextran for control vs.

0.393 for high-fat, P = 0.03) and colon (median 0.335 for control vs. 0.433 for high-fat, P = 0.01), but not in duodenum (P = 0.33) or ileum (P = 0.69, Figure 5).



Figure 5. The effect of a high-fat diet on intestinal permeability in duodenum, jejunum, ileum and colon. Permeability was measured in an Ussing chamber. Boxplots show median with upper and lower quartiles. Whiskers show min and max with outliers (Tukey) expressed as black dots. * P < 0.05, NS = Non-significant.

Obesity had no effect on barrier function (Study II)

There were no signs of altered permeability to FITC dextran in either jejunum (P = 0.93) or colon (P = 0.86) in obese vs. wild-type mice (Figure 6).

Liver LBP expression was measured as a marker of portal endotoxin. There was no difference in liver LBP expression between obese and wild-type mice [0.47 (0.41, 0.60) for obese, 0.53 (0.19, 0.84) for wild-type, P = 0.70]. In contrast, serum LBP was increased 2.5-fold in obese mice vs. wild-type [30.5 μ g/ml (24.8, 41.8) for obese, 11.4 μ g/ml (8.8, 16.3) for wild-type, P = 0.001].



Figure 6. The effect of genetic obesity on permeability of jejunum and colon. Permeability was measured in an Ussing chamber. Boxplots show median with upper and lower quartiles. Whiskers show min and max. NS = Non-significant.

5.3 Effects of dietary fat and obesity on fecal bile acids

Fecal bile acid excretion was increased by dietary lard, and even more by dietary fish oil (Studies I, II and IV)

High-fat feeding increased fecal bile acid concentration 3.6-fold in a 15week feeding trial (Study I, Table 5). This was reflected as a statistically significant elevation of each bile acid concentration except isolithocholic acid and β -muricholic acid. A non-significant tendency for a similar effect for lard feeding was seen in the much shorter, 3week trial (Study IV, Table 5). Total fecal bile acid concentration was nearly doubled by fish oil. The fish oil diet resulted in a significantly greater concentration of DCA and total bile acids in feces compared to lard-fed mice.

In genetically obese mice, daily excretion of fecal bile acids was increased 36% compared to wild-type mice (3908 μ g/day vs. 2870 μ g/day, P = 0.001), however, the concentration of total fecal bile acids was decreased by 33% (Study II, Table 5). The concentrations of cholic acid and β -muricholic acid were decreased in obese mice, whereas the concentration of isolithocholic acid was increased (Table 5). There were no differences in other bile acids. The increased daily excretion of bile acids was not reflected in liver FXR expression, which was unchanged [relative expression 0.337 (0.177,1.000) for obese vs. 0.607 (0.516,1.089) for wild-type, P = 0.42].

Table 5	. Fecal bi	le acid con	centration	s in dietary i	ntervent	ion studie	S.					
	Stu	dy I		Study	=			Study IV				
	Control	HF Lard		Wild-type	Obese		Control	HF Lard	HF Fish oil			
	N = 6	N = 6		N = 10	N = 7		N = 12	N = 10	N = 10		Fold-change	
	Median, µg	/g dry feces	Fold- change	Median, µg/g (dry feces	Fold- change	Me	dian, µg/g dr	y feces	Control to Lard	Control to Fish oil	Lard to Fish oil
ILCA	6.5	9.6	1.5	21.7	28.9	1.3*	10.5	6.8	7.8	0.6	0.7	1.1
LCA	24.5	163	6.6**	37.0	45.7	1.2	60.2	89.0	112	1.5*	1.9**	1.3
EDCA	21.9	164	7.5**	75.3	89.9	1.2	81.4	125	129	1.5	1.6	1.0
DCA	200	1159	5.8**	372	258	0.7	288	560	927	1.9**	3.2"	1.7*
CDCA	14.6	35.4	2.4*	50.9	92.3	1.8	23.5	26.4	28.0	1.1	1.2	1.0
CA	76.8	535	7.0**	210	101	0.5*	239	587	558	2.5*	2.3"	1.0
UDCA	9.3	28.2	3.0**	3.4	9.1	2.7	10.7	10.6	15.8	1.0	1.5	1.5*
β-МСА	76.0	116	1.5	100	32.2	0.3**	128	172	233	1.3	1.8^{*}	1.4
Total fecal bile acids	1442	5167	3.6**	3412	2289	0.7*	2812	3440	4683	1.2	1.7**	1.4*
HF: High-fat; acid; β-MCA	: ILCA: Isolithc : Beta-murich	ocholic acid; LC, olic acid; *P < (A: Lithocholic a 0.05, **P < 0.01	acid; EDCA: Epideo 1, ***P < 0.001 (M	xycholic acic lann-Whitne	l; DCA: Deoxyc y U)	cholic acid; CD	CA: Chenode	oxycholic acid; C/	A: Cholic acid; I	JDCA: Ursode	oxycholic

Fecal bile acid hydrophobicity was increased by dietary lard and fish oil, but not by obesity (Studies I, II and IV)

Dietary fat feeding (Studies I and IV) increased the fecal proportion of one of the most hydrophobic bile acids, DCA, whereas obesity alone had no effect (Study II) (Table 6). The proportion of β -muricholic acid was decreased by both long-term dietary fat feeding and obesity, but not by short-term high-fat feeding. Neither obesity nor dietary fat affected UDCA, although obesity tended to increase its proportion in fecal bile acids 4.6-fold (P = 0.051). The proportion of isolithocholic acid was decreased by dietary fat, but increased by obesity. A similar trend was seen for CDCA. Conversely, the proportion of cholic acid was increased by dietary fat and decreased by obesity.

The ratio of UDCA to DCA was halved by both high-fat diets in even short-term feeding, but was not significantly affected by obesity, despite a 3.2-fold higher ratio compared to wild-type mice. Long-term feeding of dietary fat increased fecal bile acid hydrophobicity 2.7-fold (P = 0.004, Study I), and short-term 1.4-fold by lard and 2.0-fold by fish oil (P = 0.027 and P = 0.003, respectively, Study IV), whereas obesity had no effect (P = 0.205) (Table 6).

				Lard to Fish oil	0.9	0.8	0.8	1.7	0.8	0.8	1.1	0.9	1.5	0.7	
			Fold-change	Control to Fish oil	0.5**	1.1	1.1	2.3**	0.6	1.3*	0.8	1.2	2.0**	0.3**	
				Control to Lard	0.5	1.3	1.3	1.4*	0.8	1.6*	0.8	1.3	1.4*	0.5**	cA: Cholic :y U)
tudies		HF Fish oil	N = 10	cid structures	0.18	2.3	2.9	21.8	0.53	10.5	0.31	4.6	0.179	0.015	eoxycholic acid; 1 (Mann-Whitn∈
vention s	Study IV	HF Lard	N = 10	6 of all bile a	0.20	2.8	3.6	13.2	0.68	13.5	0.29	5.1	0.113	0.023)CA: Chenod , ***P < 0.00
tary inter		Control	N = 12	Median, %	0.40	2.1	2.7	9.5	0.84	8.2	0.38	4.0	0.069	0.045	cholic acid; CE 15, **P < 0.01
Hx) in die				Fold- change	1.5*	1.6	1.4*	1.0	2.7	0.7*	4.6	0.4**	1.4	3.2	; DCA: Deoxyc ndex; *P < 0.0
y index (F	=	Obese	N = 7	ll bile acid es	1.10	1.7	3.3	11.7	3.8	4.1	0.37	1.3	0.123	0.032	xycholic acid rophobicity ir
ydrophobiciti	Study	Wild-type	N = 10	Median, % of a structur	0.72	1.1	2.3	11.3	1.4	6.1	0.08	3.0	060.0	0.010	acid; EDCA: Epidec nolic acid, Hlx: Hyd
ĩle and h _i				Fold- change	0.7**	3.3**	2.0**	1.9**	0.7*	1.8**	0.9	0.3*	2.7**	0.5**	:: Lithocholic a :: Beta-murich
e acid prof	dy I	HF Lard	N = 6	f all bile acid tures	0.30	4.0	3.1	25.1	0.74	10.0	0.55	1.9	0.230	0.024	cholic acid; LCA blic acid; β-MCA
. Fecal bil	Stur	Control	N = 6	Median, % o [.] struct	0.46	1.2	1.5	13.0	1.0	5.6	0.62	5.6	0.086	0.048	ILCA: Isolitho Ursodeoxycho
Table 6.					ILCA	LCA	EDCA	DCA	CDCA	CA	UDCA	β-MCA	HIX	UDCA/ DCA	HF: High-fat; acid; UDCA:

5.4 Effects of fecal bile acids on gut barrier function and inflammation

Fecal bile acid hydrophobicity was correlated with intestinal permeability (Study I and unpublished results)

A value for total intestinal permeability was calculated as a mean permeability of the measured segments, because permeability could not be measured from all segments from all mice. Fecal bile acid hydrophobicity was correlated with total intestinal permeability so that those mice with a higher hydrophobicity index displayed higher probe permeability ($\rho = 0.75$, P = 0.008; Figure 7). A trend for a similar positive correlation was noted in jejunum, ileum and colon, but not in duodenum (Figure 8).



Figure 7. Correlation between total intestinal permeability and fecal bile acid hydrophobicity index. Each dot represents an individual animal.



Figure 8. Correlation between intestinal permeability of duodenum (A), jejunum (B), ileum (C) and colon (D) and fecal bile acid hydrophobicity index. Each dot represents an individual animal.

DCA impaired gut barrier function in vivo and dose-dependently in vitro (Study III)

In a 10-week *in vivo* feeding trial, a diet containing 0.1% DCA impaired gut barrier function (factorial test, *P* for diet = 0.016, *P* for duration = 0.27; Figure 9). *In vitro*, DCA increased intestinal permeability to 4 kDa FITC dextran dose-dependently in both jejunum and colon (Figure 10 A-B). A significant barrier impairment was noted at concentrations that are found in feces of high-fat fed mice: 1 mM (1.8-fold increase in median in jejunum, 1.9-fold in colon) and 3 mM (2.2-fold increase in median in jejunum, 3.5-fold in colon), whereas no effect was seen at lower concentrations: 0.03 and 0.3 mM. Permeability to the larger 20 kDa dextran was also increased by 3 mM DCA in colon (Figure 10 D), but not in jejunum (Figure 10 C). Tissue resistance was decreased by DCA in colon, but not in jejunum.



Figure 9. Intestinal permeability after 5 or 10 weeks of dietary deoxycholic acid (DCA) feeding. Serum 4 kDa FITC dextran concentrations 4 h after dextran gavage. Boxplots show median with upper and lower quartiles. Whiskers show min and max. Results were analyzed with a factorial test. N = 5-6 per group.




UDCA protected the gut from DCA-induced barrier dysfunction (Study III)

UDCA did not affect permeability in either jejunum (global P = 0.10) or colon (global P = 0.75) (Figure 11 A-B). UDCA had no effect on tissue resistance in either jejunum or colon (data not shown).

UDCA protected colon against DCA-induced barrier dysfunction at 0.6 mM (P < 0.05) with a more than 50% decrease in the median value of permeability, and there was a decreasing trend at concentrations 0.1 mM and 0.3 mM (Figure 11 D). UDCA had no significant protective effect against DCA in jejunum (Figure 11 C). UDCA had no effect on the DCA-induced changes in tissue resistance (data not shown).



Figure 11. Effect of ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) on permeability of jejunal and colonic tissue preparations (A-B), and its interaction with 3 mM deoxycholic acid (DCA) (C-D). Boxplots show median with upper and lower quartiles. Whiskers show min and max with outliers (Tukey) expressed as black dots. A and B: 0, 0.3 and 3 mM: N = 12; 0.03 an 1 mM: N = 6. C and D: N = 20 for control and DCA only, N = 10 for groups with DCA + UDCA. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001, NS = Non-significant.

DCA disrupted colonic morphology, but not via inflammation (Study III)

Epithelial morphology was dramatically altered by deoxycholic acid. Both hematoxylin-eosin staining and immunofluorescence staining for occludin revealed that the colonic epithelium was disrupted by 3 mM DCA. This effect was inhibited by 0.6 mM UDCA (Figure 12). Tissue disruption was not reflected as an elevated COX-2 content (P = 0.57, Figure 13), nor did dexamethasone treatment inhibit barrier impairment.







Figure 13. COX-2 content, as measured by Western blot after incubation in 3 mM deoxycholic acid (DCA). Boxplots show median with upper and lower quartiles. Whiskers show min and max with outliers (Tukey) expressed as black dots. N = 7 per group.

LPS may aggravate DCA-induced barrier dysfunction in colon (Study III)

LPS treatment seemed to aggravate DCA-induced barrier dysfunction by doubling permeability at a concentration of 4.5 μ g/ml (P = 0.075, Figure 14 A). LPS had no effect on the permeability of intact intestinal tissue. Similar results were seen in rat colon (Figure 14 B). Median colonic permeability to dextran was slightly higher in both LPS+DCA groups compared to DCA only, and in a Generalized Estimated Equations analysis 5 μ g/ml LPS with DCA tended to aggravate barrier dysfunction (P = 0.05). LPS had no effect on the permeability of intact rat intestine.



Figure 14. Effect of LPS on DCA-induced barrier dysfunction in mouse (A) and rat (B) colon. Boxplots show median with upper and lower quartiles. Whiskers show min and max with outliers (Tukey) expressed as black dots. N = 7-24 per group.

5.5 Dietary fat and susceptibility to experimental colitis

Upon DSS administration (Study IV), mice in the DSS groups began to lose weight and the general well-being of all DSS groups was greatly impaired compared to the healthy control [Symptom score 0 (0, 0) for Control, 7.0 (1.8, 10) for DSS-Control, 1.0 (0.0, 7.3) for DSS-Lard, 7.5 (5.8, 9.0) for DSS-Fish oil, P < 0.01 for all DSS groups vs. healthy control]. However, there were marked differences between the DSSgroups in symptom development. Whereas most DSS-Fish oil mice deceased after the second day of DSS administration and had severe bloody diarrhea, the DSS-Lard group seemed to have less bleeding than either of the other DSS groups (P = 0.03 DSS-Lard vs. DSS-Fish oil, P = 0.07 DSS-Lard vs. DSS-Control). These differences were also reflected in the large intestinal inflammation score [Score 4 (1.0, 5.5] for Control, 58 (41, 86) for DSS-Control, 27 (9.0, 79) for DSS-Lard], although only two DSS-Fish oil mice could be scored for large intestinal inflammation and were not included in the statistical analysis (values 19 and 77). All DSS-groups scored higher than control mice (P < 0.05for all comparisons), and the gut inflammation score was, although non-significantly, halved in DSS-Lard mice compared to DSS-Control mice (P = 0.32). The symptom score AUC was significantly correlated with fecal bile acid hydrophobicity (Spearman's rho 0.44, P = 0.026, N = 26), as well as with fecal DCA concentration (Spearman's rho 0.39, P = 0.046, N = 26) in DSS mice.

In intestinal TNF-a, there were differences between groups in colon (P = 0.001), but not in jejunum (P = 0.48). Although DSS groups had marked macroscopic inflammation, tissue levels of TNF-a were lower in both DSS groups compared to healthy control [78 pg/mg protein (69, 87) for Control, 51 pg/mg protein (46, 53) for DSS-Control, 36 pg/mg protein (32, 41) for DSS-Lard, P < 0.01 for both comparisons]. As with inflammatory markers, intestinal permeability could only be measured from those mice that survived until the last day of the experiment. The

data concerning these markers could be biased by the missing individuals, which may explain why no difference in permeability was caused by the DSS colitis model.

The main findings of this thesis are summarized in Table 7.

	Study	Result
Do obesity and dietary fat impair gut barrier function?		
High-fat diet	Ι	Î
Obesity	II	\leftrightarrow
Do dietary fat, obesity, or dietary fish oil compared to lard, increase fecal bile acid hydrophobicity?		
High-fat diet	I, IV	Î
Fish oil vs. Lard diet	IV	7
Obesity	II	\leftrightarrow
Do specific bile acids different in hydrophobicity increase intestinal permeability?		
Deoxycholic acid (DCA) in vivo	III	1
DCA in vitro	III	↑
Ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) in vitro	III	\leftrightarrow
UDCA in DCA-induced barrier impairment	III	\downarrow
By which mechanisms do bile acids cause barrier impairment?		
Increased COX-2 protein content	III	\leftrightarrow
Histological disruption of tissue structure	III	\uparrow
Changes in occludin content or distribution	III	\leftrightarrow
Do dietary fats increase susceptibility to DSS colitis?		
Dietary lard	IV	7
Dietary fish oil	IV	7
Is fecal bile acid hydrophobicity associated with increased susceptibility to DSS colitis?	IV	Î

 Table 7. Summary of the main findings

Arrows indicate yes (\uparrow) , no (\leftrightarrow) or contrary effect (\downarrow) in answer to the question stated. Diagonal arrows indicate statistically non-significant tendencies.

6 DISCUSSION

Impaired barrier function allows the translocation of toxic substances from the gut lumen into the circulation. Some of these substances, i.e. endotoxins, may cause metabolic inflammation, which is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and diabetes. This series of studies investigated the role of dietary fat and obesity in the pathogenesis of gut barrier dysfunction. Luminal bile acids and their properties were studied as a mechanism for barrier impairment.

6.1 Methodological aspects

6.1.1 Methods for measuring intestinal permeability

In this series of studies intestinal permeability was primarily measured as the translocation of fluorescent probes through intestinal preparations in an Ussing chamber and into serum *in vivo*. These are direct measures of intestinal permeability, and thus more reliable than the biochemical analysis of tight-junction proteins.

According to the hypothesis, increased intestinal permeability enables the increased translocation of LPS, which causes systemic low-grade inflammation (Cani and Delzenne, 2009). A permeability probe in this setting should then preferably simulate the translocation of LPS. In the present set of experiments, intestinal permeability was measured with FITC-labeled dextran in two different sizes, 4 and 20 kDa, and

fluorescein (0.38 kDa). Whereas the smallest of these, fluorescein, likely translocates paracellularly from villous tips (Arrieta et al., 2006), 20 kDa FITC dextran, may translocate either the largest, transcellularly or paracellularly (see chapter 2.1.2). These experiments suggest that bile acids increase translocation of both 4 and 20 kDa FITC dextran, which may contribute to the pathogenesis of gut barrier dysfunction in high-fat feeding. LPS has a lipid A component bound to a core sugar and a polysaccharide repeat. The molecular size of LPS varies tremendously, but for example the lipid A component of LPS from E. Coli is 1.80 kDa in size (Que et al., 2000), or 2.01 kDa when containing the core sugar (PubChem database). An average LPS molecule has a molecular size of approximately 4.29 kDa (PubChem database), which implies that it corresponds well to the size of FITC dextrans, and that more than 50% of its molecular mass is comprised of polysaccharide. The polysaccharide component, called O antigen, determines the serotype of the LPS molecule, as well as its hydrophobicity. The longer the O antigen, the more hydrophilic the LPS molecule is. Since the average LPS molecule contains more than 50% hydrophlilic polysaccharide, the hydrophilic FITC-dextrans used in these studies, 4 and 20 kDa, could be expected to somewhat represent the translocation of LPS.

The Ussing chamber method allows measurement of permeability from selected tissue segments, whereas the *in vivo* gavage of FITC dextran does not distinguish between segments. Serum samples for the *in vivo* method used in this study were taken 4 h after gavage, because at this time point FITC-dextran is visible by eye in the colon. Although it was suspected on these grounds that the *in vivo* method may measure permeability from also the large intestine, there is no evidence to confirm this assumption. The *in vivo* method may also be affected by gastrointestinal transit time, whereas the Ussing chamber method holds no such bias.

It should be stressed, however, that the Ussing chamber method cannot fully represent a physiological environment. Although care has been taken to set pH, temperature and ion concentrations in the Ringer solution, the tissue segment is no longer connected to blood circulation. Despite carbogen gas flow in the chamber system, the tissue segment is inevitably ischemic to some degree. Moreover, tissue handling causes damage in cut areas. Given these circumstances, tissue segments cannot be held in the Ussing chamber for more than a few hours, depending on incubation conditions.

Although a diet high in fat elevates serum levels of LPS (Cani et al., 2007a, 2007b, 2008; de La Serre et al., 2010; Everard et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Laugerette et al., 2012; Serino et al., 2012), it has been questioned whether this indicates increased intestinal permeability, because high serum LPS levels may also result from decreased clearance or high prevalence of LPS-containing gut bacteria in the lumen (Teixeira et al., 2012a). Instead of measuring serum LPS levels, the potential of LBP as a marker of intestinal permeability was addressed in this study. LBP was measured in Study II from serum and as liver expression. Although LBP is a marker mostly produced by the liver in response to LPS, these two parameters were surprisingly not correlated: although serum LBP level was increased in genetic obesity, liver LPB expression was unchanged. Previous studies have shown a relationship between serum LBP and obesity or fat mass (Sun et al., 2010, Moreno-Navarrete et al., 2011). Adipose tissue expression of LBP correlates with adipocyte size (Dr. Robert Caesar, personal communication), which suggests that LBP may also be excreted from adipose tissue. These reports indicate that serum LBP does not necessarily reflect serum LPS levels in obesity.

6.1.2 Mouse models

Obesity

The C57Bl/6J mouse strain is a well-established healthy control that is often used as the basis for genetic modification (Rivera and Tessarollo, 2008). In this study, the C57Bl/6J mouse strain was used for two obesity-models: the diet-induced obesity model and the commercially available genetically obese ob/ob model, which is bred into a C57Bl/6J background. There is a substantial difference in the mechanism of becoming obese between these two animal models. Whereas the diet-induced obese mice become obese on an energy-dense high-fat diet, the ob/ob mouse is leptin-deficient and characterized by hyperphagia (Carroll *et al.*, 2004), and thus becomes obese eating regular chow. The diet-induced obese mouse model better describes human obesity when compared to genetically obese models with single mutations. However, in the diet-induced obese model it cannot be verified whether any noted physiological changes are caused by dietary fat or obesity, i.e. expanding adipose tissue and alterations in its hormonal function. The genetically obese ob/ob model was used in this study to see whether obesity without dietary fat causes the modifications that are seen on a high-fat diet.

In the ob/ob mouse model, it should be noted that effects of obesity and leptin deficiency cannot be entirely distinguished from each other. Not much is known of how leptin affects gut barrier function, but leptin pre-treatment is known to protect from intestinal ischemiareperfusion-induced mucosal damage in the rat (Sukhotnik *et al.*, 2007). It could then be speculated that leptin is protective to the epithelium, and leptin deficiency would predispose to barrier dysfunction. However, since permeability was not increased in ob/ob in the present study, leptin deficiency seems not to have affected the data.

Experimental colitis

Study IV aimed to investigate whether dietary fat quantity or quality affects susceptibility to experimental colitis by a mechanism related to bile acid hydrophobicity. Colitis was induced by dextran sodium sulphate (DSS) in drinking water. The DSS-induced colitis model is commonly used as a model of inflammatory bowel disease, to study disease pathogenesis and therapeutic options (for review, Perše and Cerar, 2012). The pathogenesis of DSS colitis is based on DSS-induced disruption of colonic epithelial cells and their tight-junctions, which enables translocation of luminal antigens (Perše and Cerar, 2012). A similar pathogenesis is proposed for human inflammatory bowel disease (see 2.1.6). In DSS mice, a loss of tight-junction proteins is observed after only one day of treatment, accompanied by an increased expression of inflammatory cytokines (Perše and Cerar, 2012). Later on, increased apoptosis and decreased proliferation aggravate barrier dysfunction. The DSS colitis model has been validated for its use in studies on IBD (Melgar et al., 2008). The severity of DSS colitis is regulated by the duration of DSS administration, and the concentration of the drinking solution (Perše and Cerar, 2012). In the present study, the 5% DSS solution caused severe inflammation, and in some mice premature death, in only two days of administration, although this dose has been used successfully in studies using the same method or in a pilot study performed for the present study (Liu et al., 2009; unpublished data). This may be due to differences in diet compositions, since in earlier studies mice were fed standard chow, which usually contains approximately 15% fiber, whereas the diets used in the present study contained only 6.5% fiber. Insoluble dietary fiber has been suggested to protect from the development of DSS colitis (Nagy-Szakal et al., 2013).

6.1.3 Experimental diets

This thesis included two dietary intervention trials in mice (Studies I and IV). These trials utilized commercially available open source diets. In Study I, a high-fat diet containing 60 E% fat (mostly lard) was used for the diet-induced obesity model. The alternative diet containing 45 E% fat was not chosen, because it was unknown at the time of designing the study whether dietary fat has an effect at all. Thus the more extreme diet was chosen for the experiments. The diet used in the present study was much less extreme, however, than the previously used high-fat carbohydrate-free diets that are used to initiate diabetes (Cani *et al.*, 2007a, 2007b, 2008; Serino *et al.*, 2012). In Study IV, the

60 E% fat diet was problematic, since lard had to be included in the fish oil diet to be able to form a pelleted diet. For future studies on the quality of dietary fat in inducing barrier dysfunction it could be beneficial to use a 45 E% fat diet. This improves the pelletability of diets containing oils.

Fish oil is generally perceived as anti-inflammatory, and because the present results are against this asssumption, they are easily critisized. However, a Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis of nine studies on IBD concluded that there is insufficient data to recommend the use of fish oil to maintain remission in IBD (Turner *et al.* 2011). The high concentration of fish oil in the diet of Study IV may have increased intestinal bleeding in the fish oil group, because fish oil reduces platelet aggregation (for review, see Vanschoonbeek *et al.* 2003). The aforementioned review claimed, however, that fish oil does not increase bruising or bleeding time in humans. With the present evidence it cannot be excluded that the anticoagulation tendency brought on by fish oil may have caused bias in data on DSS severity.

The 10 E% fat control diet for Studies I and IV was paired to the highfat diet in all but fat and carbohydrate content. Instead of excess fat as lard, the control diet contained sucrose. It can be debated whether this is metabolically the best control in permeability research. Sucrose contains 50% fructose, which is suspected to increase translocation of endotoxins (Bergheim et al., 2008). At present, a low-sucrose diet paired for the high-fat diet used here is also available. From the viewpoint of obesity research, however, the control diet used here could be more ideal in ad libitum studies than those with lower sucrose contents, because a diet high in sucrose forms a very hard pellet. As diet texture is essential in reported, weight development (Desmarchelier et al., 2013) - only pelleted diets resulted in a difference in weight gain, whereas with soft diets all mice developed obesity. As a compromise for permeability studies in obesity models, it could be advisable to use a low-sucrose control diet and slightly restrict food intake if a large weight-difference is desired.

6.2 Effects of dietary fat and obesity on intestinal permeability

These data show that a diet high in saturated fat increases the permeability of jejunum and colon to a fluorescent probe (Study I). It cannot be concluded with the present sample sizes, however, whether permeability of duodenum or ileum was increased or not. Previously, only four studies have shown with direct markers of permeability that high-fat feeding increases intestinal permeability in animals. Cani et al. (2008) showed that a carbohydrate-free (i.e. high-fat) diet increases permeability, when measured with in vivo gavage of FITC dextran. Both Suzuki and Hara (2010) and De La Serre (2010) have shown with direct probes in vivo that dietary fat increases gut permeability in rats, although the later only saw a difference in obesity-prone, but not obesity-resistant rats. Only Serino et al. (2012) have measured permeability from different segments of the distal gut after feeding with a high-fat, carbohydrate-free diet. They reported a 1.5-2-fold permeability of colon in high-fat-fed mice compared to control, although the difference was non-significant. The present study is the first to measure permeability in four locations along the gut in mice on a high-fat diet.

These data show that obesity without dietary fat does not affect intestinal permeability (Study II). This is supported by a finding in genetically obese rats (Suzuki and Hara, 2010). Cani *et al.* (2008, 2009) have studied ob/ob mice and report decreased tight-junction protein levels in obese mice compared to wild-type, but do not give gut permeability data for wild-type mice to be compared with the obese mice. Another report from Brun *et al.* (2008) shows increased intestinal permeability in ob/ob mice. All mice were fed regular chow, and there are no major differences in the method of measuring permeability, but the mice used in that study were three weeks younger and obtained from a different supplier than in the present study. This raises the question of whether impaired barrier function is a feature specific to some distinct strain of ob/ob mice, but would not be related to obesity itself. Several studies report elevated blood endotoxins in genetically obese mice (Brun *et al.*, 2007; Cani *et al.*, 2008, 2009; Haub *et al.*, 2011). It cannot be concluded, however, whether this is due to increased permeability, impaired hepatic or intestinal clearance, or increased luminal production of LPS.

Although several studies report that obese animals on a high-fat diet demonstrate increased permeability, the present results suggest that this is due to dietary fat, not obesity itself.

6.3 Bile acids as a possible mechanism

These data suggest that alterations in luminal bile acid profile have a role in the pathogenesis of barrier dysfunction by dietary fat. Study I shows that fecal bile acid hydrophobicity and intestinal permeability are associated and are both increased by a high-fat diet. Although Suzuki and Hara proposed a role for bile acids in fat-induced barrier dysfunction (2010), the present study is the first one to show a correlation of bile acid profile alterations to gut permeability. Data from Study IV suggest that dietary fish oil may increase fecal bile acid hydrophobicity even further than dietary lard. The concentration of DCA was higher in feces of fish oil -fed mice compared to lard-fed mice. Although fecal bile acid hydrophobicity correlated with disease symptom severity, the impact of dietary fat quality on intestinal barrier function is yet to be determined.

Study III compared the luminal DCA concentrations of control mice to those of diet-induced obese mice in inducing barrier dysfunction. It is well known that DCA increases intestinal permeability (Chadwick *et al.*, 1979; Goerg *et al.*, 1980; Argenzio and Whipp, 1983; Goerg *et al.*, 1983; Gyory and Chang, 1983; Henrikson *et al.*, 1989; Fasano *et al.*, 1990; Fihn *et al.*, 2003; Sun *et al.*, 2004a, 2004b), as also shown both *in vivo* and *ex vivo* in Study III. However, this study is novel in finding that intestinal permeability was increased by DCA concentrations that

are found in the feces of diet-induced obese mice, but not by those found in the feces of control mice.

The present data suggest that the mechanism by which DCA increases intestinal permeability is rather related to disruption of tissue structure than inflammation, since tissue COX-2 content was unchanged, although histological staining showed clear disruption of the epithelium. Moreover, suggestive data show that treatment with the anti-inflammatory dexamethasone did not reduce epithelial disruption, nor was tissue occludin content affected. Henrikson et al. (1989) have shown that DCA reversibly alters porcine colonic morphology at 3-15 mM concentrations, with an irreversible disruption of the basal lamina at 21 mM. An earlier study suggested, however, that 2-8 mM DCA does not disrupt the integrity of rat colon, when imaged with electron microscopy (Goerg et al., 1982). Instead, it was proposed that shedding of colonic cells is an artefact caused by the loosening of tight-junctions, and that changes in permeability are caused by tight-junction modifications, not by disruption of cell membranes. In the present study, the possibility for such an artefact cannot be ruled out. Tissue occludin levels were not changed by DCA incubation (Study III), which does not support the suggestion by Goerg et al. (1982), although sample-size was small and other tight-junctions or their localization were not analyzed. These data also do not support an inflammatory mechanism, since tissue COX-2 content was unchanged. The coincubation of DCA with dexamethasone suggests that antiinflammatory treatment does not inhibit barrier dysfunction, although it is possible that the incubation time was too short for this drug to have an effect. Thus, this study does not prove a mechanism of action for barrier-disruption by DCA. The present results tentatively suggest, however, that the induction of barrier leakage is not inflammationdependent.

To compare the effects of DCA to a more hydrophilic bile acid, experiments were conducted with UDCA. This bile acid had no effect on permeability itself, but prevented DCA-induced barrier dysfunction at a 0.6 mM concentration. UDCA has shown other gut-protective effects in several previous studies: it has protected against chemically or pharmacologically induced colitis (Bernardes-Silva *et al.*, 2004; Kullmann *et al.*, 1997a, 1997b) and colitis-associated adenocarcinoma (Loddenkemper *et al.*, 2006) in rodents.

UDCA protects lipid membranes from disruption and perturbation by DCA in vitro (Heuman and Bajaj, 1994; Rodrigues et al., 1998). Possible mechanisms of action include UDCA replacing DCA in the cell membrane or UDCA binding to the cell membrane and inducing a repelling negative charge towards the negatively charged DCA. These hypotheses are inadequate, however, since in the lack of cholesterol UDCA is as cytotoxic as DCA (Zhou et al., 2009b). Zhou et al. (2009b) showed that UDCA protects cell membranes from DCA, but only in the presence of cholesterol. These results may partly explain the large variation in response to DCA-UDCA-mixtures in the present Ussing chamber studies. Since UDCA requires membrane cholesterol to be cytoprotective, any possible variation in epithelial cholesterol between individuals could have affected the results of the present study. Moreover, UDCA was only protective at 0.6 mM, with 1 mM having no effect. It could be hypothesized that with a high UDCA concentration a of membrane cholesterol prevented depletion any further cytoprotection, and additional UDCA was cytotoxic. This would lead to a cut-off concentration of 0.6 mM for the barrier-protective effect of UDCA in the present study design.

UDCA protected from DCA-induced barrier dysfunction in colonic, but not jejunal preparations. It is unknown whether this is only a matter of concentrations or incubation conditions. Before arriving to the ileum, where most bile acids are absorbed, the luminal concentration of bile acids in jejunum is 2-3-fold compared to that in colon (Hagio *et al.*, 2009). This difference may have an impact on physiological defense mechanisms such as mucus excretion. Moreover, there are substantial differences in the microbial concentration of jejunum and colon, which may affect the host's response to external stimuli.

DISCUSSION

It is probable that in the physiological conditions in the intestine there are various factors protecting the intestine from the cytotoxicity of bile acids. Besides gut mucus and other factors that are lost in the *ex vivo* setting of the Ussing chamber, there may be other bile acids capable of cytoprotection. β -muricholic acid is another hydrophilic bile acid, which is primarily produced in the rodent liver (Lefebvre *et al.*, 2009). Although it has not been tested in intestinal permeability, it has a similar beneficial effect against cholesterol gallstones, as that of UDCA (Wang and Tazuma, 2002). As a very hydrophilic bile acid, the efficacy of β -muricholic in protecting from DCA cytotoxicity should be examined in further studies.

Besides UDCA, there may be many other luminal factors participating in the pathogenesis of barrier dysfunction by DCA. Due to the gut microbiota, the gut lumen contains LPS, which constantly translocates to the submucosa at a low rate (for review, see Kelly et al., 2012). To the human immune system, LPS is highly inflammatory. DCA has been shown to provoke mucosal sensitivity to β -lactoglobulin, perhaps by increasing translocation to the lamina propria (Baird and Cuthbert, 1985). Analogically, it was hypothesized in this study that cytotoxic bile acids sensitize the gut to LPS-induced inflammation by promoting the translocation of LPS to the lamina propria. The results show a tendency for LPS to exacerbate DCA-induced barrier dysfunction. LPS alone, on the contrary, had no effect on intestinal permeability. Previous reports have also shown apically administered LPS not to increase permeability in colon (Emmanuel et al., 2007) or intestinal Caco-2 cells (Hanson et al., 2011) even at concentrations 100-fold compared to the ones used in the present study. However, bile acids have been reported to facilitate the translocation of LPS into human gut mucosa, as examined with confocal microscopy (Münch et al., 2007). The present data suggest that once in the submucosa, LPS may increase gut permeability. This is supported by a previous study showing that basolateral administration of LPS to Caco-2 cells increases permeability (Hanson et al., 2011).





Together the findings of this study imply that bile acids may have an initiating role in the pathogenesis of gut barrier dysfunction, where LPS or other luminal antigens possibly play a secondary role. As illustrated in Figure 15, the novel hypothesis of the pathogenesis of gut barrier dysfunction, derived from the results of this study, suggests that dietary modifications in the fecal bile acid profile result in increased gut permeability and permit increased translocation of LPS. This LPS, in turn, causes submucosal inflammation and initiates a vicious cycle, which leads to metabolic endotoxemia.

6.4 Clinical relevance

Intestinal barrier dysfunction is related to an increasing array of diseases common in the Western countries: inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) (for review, see Goyette *et al.*, 2007), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (for review, see Camilleri *et al.*, 2012), type 1 diabetes (for review, see Vaarala, 2008), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (for review, see Valenti *et al.*, 2009) and allergy (for review, see Perrier and Corthésy, 2011). This thesis investigated the role of dietary fat, obesity and bile acids as causes for intestinal barrier dysfunction. The present results suggest that increased bile acid hydrophobicity in the large intestine impairs mucosal barrier function. Ursodeoxycholic acid appeared to be a potential therapeutic agent for the prevention or treatment of these pathophysiological events in mice. Options for other membrane-strengthening agents should be investigated, and their efficacy should be tested in humans.

The results of these animal and *in vitro* studies cannot be directly extrapolated into humans. There are differences in for example the bile acid metabolism, microbiota and gut mucosal immunology of mice and humans, which demonstrate a clear need for similar experiments in humans. One of the largest differences in murine and human bile acid metabolism is in the murine ability to metabolize DCA back into its primary bile acid. Surprisingly, this does not pose such a large

difference in their small intestinal DCA concentration, because of coprophagia in mice (Groen *et al.*, 2006).

6.5 Future directions

Although the present series of studies suggests that a diet high in fat modifies luminal bile acid profile, it is still unknown how dietary fat elicits these changes. Because luminal hydrophobicity was increased mostly due to changes in secondary or tertiary bile acids, it could be hypothesized, that these changes are caused by alterations in gut microbiota. Although preliminary evidence shows that a high-fat diet increases fecal 7a-hydroxylase activity (Reddy *et al.*, 1996), suggesting a difference in microbial metabolism, this assumption should be fully investigated in future research. It is also imperative to know how different dietary fats affect the bile acid pool, and how these changes alter gut epithelial function. In the present study, mice eating fish oil were more susceptible to death of DSS colitis than those eating lard. This interesting finding should be further investigated to see if the effect can be replicated on lower doses of fish oil and DSS.

Another recently published paper proposed that increased biliary excretion of taurocholic acid in mice favors the growth of *Bilophila wadsworthia*, which is suspected to be a colitis-predisposing gut microbe (Devkota *et al.*, 2012). The authors did not discuss the fact that taurocholic acid is mostly unconjugated in colon. It is thus unknown whether the effect was attributable to taurocholic acid itself or its metabolites. Nevertheless, it is important to know how bile acids affect metabolism and gut mucosal function in all its forms – from biliary bile salts to serum and fecal bile acids. Peter J. Turnbaugh, a pioneer in research on obesity and gut microbiota, also emphasizes the need to continue research on the effects of diet on gut microbiota and bile acids (Turnbaugh, 2012). Bile acids have indeed raised interest in gut microbiota research and it is time to combine these two areas of obesity research.

7 CONCLUSIONS

The present series of studies investigated the role of dietary fat, obesity and bile acids in the pathogenesis of gut barrier dysfunction using mice on a high-fat diet, genetically obese mice and tissue preparations *in vitro*. The main findings are as follows:

- i. Intestinal permeability is increased, especially in jejunum and colon, by dietary fat, but not by obesity itself.
- ii. Dietary fat alters not just fecal bile acid concentration, but also fecal bile acid profile. Lard and fish oil severely increase fecal bile acid hydrophobicity compared to control. Dietary fish oil seems to induce a more hydrophobic bile acid profile than dietary lard. Obesity has no effect on bile acid hydrophobicity.
- iii. Fecal bile acid hydrophobicity is positively correlated with intestinal permeability. A very hydrophobic bile acid, deoxycholic acid, impairs barrier function, whereas the more hydrophilic ursodeoxycholic acid may even protect gut epithelium from bile acid cytotoxicity. The mechanism of bile acid -induced disruption of the epithelium seems inflammation-independent.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out in 2010-2013 in the Institute of Biomedicine, Pharmacology, at the University of Helsinki. The work was supported by The Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation, the Foundation for Nutrition Research and the research funds of the University of Helsinki.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my supervisors Professor Riitta Korpela and Dr. Reetta Holma. I appreciate how Riitta Korpela has given me the freedom to pursue my own ideas. Reetta Holma's experience in experimental research in gastroenterology has greatly improved my thesis. They have both endured my stubbornness and encouraged me forward even at hard times.

I sincerely thank Professor Esa Korpi for the opportunity to work in the Institute of Biomedicine. I am most grateful to the steering group of this thesis project: Professor (emeritus) Heikki Vapaatalo for his excellent advice on the details of study designs, and Professor Eero Mervaala for always extending my thinking to the larger scale.

My official reviewers, Professor Jussi Pihlajamäki and Associate Professor Kirsi Pietiläinen are thanked for their insightful comments for improving this thesis so thoroughly with such a tight schedule.

My wonderful collaborators from the Division of Internal Medicine are

fully acknowledged. Late Professor Tatu Miettinen's passionate interest in sterols enabled me to study bile acids. I cannot thank enough Professor Helena Gylling for her professional grip on this project – I have sat in many meetings admiring her determination. Without Leena Kaipiainen's experience and help I couldn't have completed this thesis.

To my other co-authors, Ariane Eggert and Richard Forsgård, I offer my warmest thanks for such excellent technical skills and hands-on attitude in the laboratory. You have made this thesis project much easier by solving some of my technical catastrophes.

My special thanks go to Professor Michael Schemann, Dr. Dagmar Krueger, Professor Hélène Eutamène and Dr. Laurent Ferrier for welcoming me to their laboratories and teaching me critical skills.

I have been privileged to share a research group with such spectacular colleagues who have helped me both in the laboratory and supported me all the way: Hanna Laurikainen, Hanna Ventola, Aino Siltari, Liisa Lehtoranta, Anne Kivimäki, Nora Sihvola, Tuomas Heini, Hanna Keränen, Martta Raatikainen, Ildikó Hytönen and Katri Peuhkuri. Many projects would have crashed without the help of Sari, Päivi and others, and lab work turned out quite amusing in the company of Tuomas Lilius. I am also grateful to Dr. Taru Pilvi who initially gave me the push onto the path of research - "some day" is now here.

My friends and family, thank you for shaping me the person I am. My mom Maija, dad Petri and sisters Jenni and Nelli, thank you for being there for me. My best friends throughout the years in Viikki: Hanna, Aaro & family, Suvi, Jemina, Heli, Saila, Alpo and Heidi - I miss our endless debates. Sonja, Jukka, Noora and Antti, you make me forget life outside of dance. Finally, I am most warm-heartedly grateful for the loving support of Thomas - the only other person in the entire world who can make morning coffee exactly as I like it. I love you all.

Helsinki, May 2013 Lotta Stenman

REFERENCES

Al-Sadi, R., Khatib, K., Guo, S., Ye, D., Youssef, M., and Ma, T. (2011). Occludin regulates macromolecule flux across the intestinal epithelial tight junction barrier. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *300*, G1054–1064.

Amasheh, M., Schlichter, S., Amasheh, S., Mankertz, J., Zeitz, M., Fromm, M., *et al.* (2008). Quercetin enhances epithelial barrier function and increases claudin-4 expression in Caco-2 cells. J Nutr *138*, 1067–1073.

Anand, R.J., Dai, S., Rippel, C., Leaphart, C., Qureshi, F., Gribar, S.C., *et al.* (2008). Activated macrophages inhibit enterocyte gap junctions via the release of nitric oxide. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 294, G109–119.

Andersson, R., and Wang, X.D. (1999). Gut barrier dysfunction in experimental acute pancreatitis. Ann Acad Med Singap 28, 141–146.

Araki, Y., Katoh, T., Ogawa, A., Bamba, S., Andoh, A., Koyama, S., *et al.* (2005). Bile acid modulates transepithelial permeability via the generation of reactive oxygen species in the Caco-2 cell line. Free Radic Biol Med *39*, 769–780.

Argenzio, R.A., and Whipp, S.C. (1983). Comparison of the effects of disodium ethylenediaminetetraacetate, theophylline, and deoxycholic acid on colonic ion transport and permeability. Am J Vet Res *44*, 1480–1487.

Arrieta, M.C., Bistritz, L., and Meddings, J.B. (2006). Alterations in intestinal permeability. Gut 55, 1512–1520.

Assimakopoulos, S.F., Papageorgiou, I., and Charonis, A. (2011). Enterocytes' tight junctions: From molecules to diseases. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol *2*, 123–137. Baird, A.W., and Cuthbert, A.W. (1985). Changed sensitivity to antigen in a gut epithelium treated with bile salts. Br J Pharmacol *84*, 653– 656.

Balda, M.S., Whitney, J.A., Flores, C., González, S., Cereijido, M., and Matter, K. (1996). Functional dissociation of paracellular permeability and transepithelial electrical resistance and disruption of the apical-basolateral intramembrane diffusion barrier by expression of a mutant tight junction membrane protein. J Cell Biol *134*, 1031–1049.

Banan, A., Fields, J.Z., Zhang, Y., and Keshavarzian, A. (2001). iNOS upregulation mediates oxidant-induced disruption of F-actin and barrier of intestinal monolayers. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *280*, G1234–1246.

Barrasa, J.I., Olmo, N., Lizarbe, M.A., and Turnay, J. (2013). Bile acids in the colon, from healthy to cytotoxic molecules. Toxicol In Vitro *27*, 964–977.

Basu, S., Haghiac, M., Surace, P., Challier, J.-P., Guerre-Millo, M., Singh, K., *et al.* (2011). Pre-gravid obesity associates with increased maternal endotoxemia and metabolic inflammation. Obesity *19*, 476–482.

Bergheim, I., Weber, S., Vos, M., Krämer, S., Volynets, V., Kaserouni, S., *et al.* (2008). Antibiotics protect against fructose-induced hepatic lipid accumulation in mice: role of endotoxin. J Hepatol *48*, 983–992.

Berin, M.C., Kiliaan, A.J., Yang, P.C., Groot, J.A., Taminiau, J.A., and Perdue, M.H. (1997). Rapid transpithelial antigen transport in rat jejunum: impact of sensitization and the hypersensitivity reaction. Gastroenterology *113*, 856–864.

Berin, M.C., Kiliaan, A.J., Yang, P.C., Groot, J.A., Kitamura, Y., and Perdue, M.H. (1998). The influence of mast cells on pathways of transpithelial antigen transport in rat intestine. J Immunol *161*, 2561–2566.

Bernardes-Silva, C.F., Damião, A.O.M.C., Sipahi, A.M., Laurindo, F.R.M., Iriya, K., Lopasso, F.P., *et al.* (2004). Ursodeoxycholic acid ameliorates experimental ileitis counteracting intestinal barrier dysfunction and oxidative stress. Dig Dis Sci *49*, 1569–1574.

Bevins, C.L., Martin-Porter, E., and Ganz, T. (1999). Defensins and innate host defence of the gastrointestinal tract. Gut 45, 911–915.

Bianchini, F., Caderni, G., Dolara, P., Fantetti, L., and Kriebel, D. (1989). Effect of dietary fat, starch and cellulose on fecal bile acids in mice. J Nutr *119*, 1617–1624.

Bijlsma, P.B., Kiliaan, A.J., Scholten, G., Heyman, M., Groot, J.A., and Taminiau, J.A. (1996). Carbachol, but not forskolin, increases

mucosal-to-serosal transport of intact protein in rat ileum *in vitro*. Am J Physiol *271*, G147–155.

Bjarnason, I., Macpherson, A., and Hollander, D. (1995). Intestinal permeability: An overview. Gastroenterology *108*, 1566–1581.

Blachier, F., Boutry, C., Bos, C., and Tomé, D. (2009). Metabolism and functions of L-glutamate in the epithelial cells of the small and large intestines. Am J Clin Nutr *90*, 814S–821S.

Bölke, E., Jehle, P.M., Orth, K., Steinbach, G., Hannekum, A., and Storck, M. (2001). Changes of gut barrier function during anesthesia and cardiac surgery. Angiology *52*, 477–482.

Botham, K.M., and Boyd, G.S. (1983). The metabolism of chenodeoxycholic acid to β -muricholic acid in rat liver. Eur J Biochem 134, 191–196.

Brignardello, J., Morales, P., Diaz, E., Romero, J., Brunser, O., and Gotteland, M. (2010). Pilot study: alterations of intestinal microbiota in obese humans are not associated with colonic inflammation or disturbances of barrier function. Aliment Pharmacol Ther *32*, 1307–1314.

Brun, P., Castagliuolo, I., Di Leo, V., Buda, A., Pinzani, M., Palù, G., and Martines, D. (2007). Increased intestinal permeability in obese mice: new evidence in the pathogenesis of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *292*, G518–525.

Caesar, R., Fåk, F., and Bäckhed, F. (2010). Effects of gut microbiota on obesity and atherosclerosis via modulation of inflammation and lipid metabolism. J Intern Med *268*, 320–328.

Camilleri, M., Lasch, K., and Zhou, W. (2012). Irritable bowel syndrome: methods, mechanisms, and pathophysiology. The confluence of increased permeability, inflammation, and pain in irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *303*, G775–785.

Cani, P.D., Neyrinck, A.M., Fava, F., Knauf, C., Burcelin, R.G., Tuohy, K.M., *et al.* (2007a). Selective increases of bifidobacteria in gut microflora improve high-fat-diet-induced diabetes in mice through a mechanism associated with endotoxaemia. Diabetologia *50*, 2374–2383.

Cani, P.D., Amar, J., Iglesias, M.A., Poggi, M., Knauf, C., Bastelica, D., *et al.* (2007b). Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. Diabetes *56*, 1761–1772.

Cani, P.D., Bibiloni, R., Knauf, C., Waget, A., Neyrinck, A.M., Delzenne, N.M., *et al.* (2008). Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic

endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. Diabetes 57, 1470–1481.

Cani, P.D., and Delzenne, N.M. (2009). The role of the gut microbiota in energy metabolism and metabolic disease. Curr Pharm Des *15*, 1546–1558.

Cani, P.D., Possemiers, S., Van de Wiele, T., Guiot, Y., Everard, A., Rottier, O., *et al.* (2009). Changes in gut microbiota control inflammation in obese mice through a mechanism involving GLP-2-driven improvement of gut permeability. Gut 58, 1091–1103.

Carroll, L., Voisey, J., and Van Daal, A. (2004). Mouse models of obesity. Clin Dermatol 22, 345–349.

Carvalho, B., Guadagnini, D., Tsukumo, D., Schenka, A., Latuf-Filho, P., Vassallo, J., *et al.* (2012). Modulation of gut microbiota by antibiotics improves insulin signalling in high-fat fed mice. Diabetologia 55, 2823–2834.

Catalioto, R.-M., Triolo, A., Giuliani, S., Altamura, M., Evangelista, S., and Maggi, C.A. (2008). Increased paracellular absorption by bile salts and P-glycoprotein stimulated efflux of otilonium bromide in Caco-2 cells monolayers as a model of intestinal barrier. J Pharm Sci *97*, 4087–4100.

Chadwick, V.S., Gaginella, T.S., Carlson, G.L., Debongnie, J.C., Phillips, S.F., and Hofmann, A.F. (1979). Effect of molecular structure on bile acid-induced alterations in absorptive function, permeability, and morphology in the perfused rabbit colon. J Lab Clin Med *94*, 661–674.

Chen, H.-L., Lin, Y.-M., and Wang, Y.-C. (2010). Comparative effects of cellulose and soluble fibers (pectin, konjac glucomannan, inulin) on fecal water toxicity toward Caco-2 Cells, fecal bacteria enzymes, bile acid, and short-chain fatty acids. J Agric Food Chem 58, 10277–10281.

Chiang, J.Y.L. (2009). Bile acids: regulation of synthesis. J Lipid Res 50, 1955–1966.

Clarke, L.L. (2009). A guide to Ussing chamber studies of mouse intestine. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *296*, G1151–G1166.

Clayburgh, D.R., Barrett, T.A., Tang, Y., Meddings, J.B., Van Eldik, L.J., Watterson, D.M., *et al.* (2005). Epithelial myosin light chain kinase-dependent barrier dysfunction mediates T cell activation-induced diarrhea in vivo. J Clin Invest *115*, 2702–2715.

Clemente, M.G., De Virgiliis, S., Kang, J.S., Macatagney, R., Musu, M.P., Di Pierro, M.R., *et al.* (2003). Early effects of gliadin on enterocyte intracellular signalling involved in intestinal barrier function. Gut *52*, 218–223.

Connor, W.E., Witiak, D.T., Stone, D.B., and Armstrong, M.L. (1969). Cholesterol balance and fecal neutral steroid and bile acid excretion in normal men fed dietary fats of different fatty acid composition. J Clin Invest *48*, 1363–1375.

Cummings, J.H., Wiggins, H.S., Jenkins, D.J., Houston, H., Jivraj, T., Drasar, B.S., *et al.* (1978). Influence of diets high and low in animal fat on bowel habit, gastrointestinal transit time, fecal microflora, bile acid, and fat excretion. J Clin Invest *61*, 953–963.

Dehghan, A., Van Hoek, M., Sijbrands, E.J.G., Stijnen, T., Hofman, A., and Witteman, J.C.M. (2007). Risk of type 2 diabetes attributable to C-reactive protein and other risk factors. Diabetes Care *30*, 2695–2699.

DeMeo, M.T., Mutlu, E.A., Keshavarzian, A., and Tobin, M.C. (2002). Intestinal permeation and gastrointestinal disease. J Clin Gastroenterol *34*, 385–396.

Deopurkar, R., Ghanim, H., Friedman, J., Abuaysheh, S., Sia, C.L., Mohanty, P., *et al.* (2010). Differential effects of cream, glucose, and orange juice on inflammation, endotoxin, and the expression of toll-like receptor-4 and suppressor of cytokine signaling-3. Diabetes Care *33*, 991–997.

Desmarchelier, C., Ludwig, T., Scheundel, R., Rink, N., Bader, B.L., Klingenspor, M., *et al.* (2013). Diet-induced obesity in ad libitum-fed mice: food texture overrides the effect of macronutrient composition. Br J Nutr *109*, 1518–1527.

Devkota, S., Wang, Y., Musch, M.W., Leone, V., Fehlner-Peach, H., Nadimpalli, A., *et al.* (2012). Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in Il10-/- mice. Nature *487*, 104–108.

Ditscheid, B., Keller, S., and Jahreis, G. (2009). Faecal steroid excretion in humans is affected by calcium supplementation and shows gender-specific differences. Eur J Nutr 48, 22–30.

Drago, S., El Asmar, R., Di Pierro, M., Grazia Clemente, M., Tripathi, A., Sapone, A., *et al.* (2006). Gliadin, zonulin and gut permeability: Effects on celiac and non-celiac intestinal mucosa and intestinal cell lines. Scand J Gastroenterol *41*, 408–419.

Drewe, J., Beglinger, C., and Fricker, G. (2001). Effect of ischemia on intestinal permeability of lipopolysaccharides. Eur J Clin Invest *31*, 138–144.

Emmanuel, D.G.V., Madsen, K.L., Churchill, T.A., Dunn, S.M., and Ametaj, B.N. (2007). Acidosis and lipopolysaccharide from Escherichia coli B:055 cause hyperpermeability of rumen and colon tissues. J Dairy Sci *90*, 5552–5557.

Engsbro, A.L., Begtrup, L.M., Kjeldsen, J., Larsen, P.V., De Muckadell, O.S., Jarbøl, D.E., *et al.* (2013). Patients suspected of irritable bowel syndrome-cross-sectional study exploring the sensitivity of rome III criteria in primary care. Am J Gastroenterol E–pub ahead of print.

Erridge, C., Attina, T., Spickett, C.M., and Webb, D.J. (2007). A high-fat meal induces low-grade endotoxemia: evidence of a novel mechanism of postprandial inflammation. Am J Clin Nutr *86*, 1286–1292.

Everard, A., Geurts, L., Van Roye, M., Delzenne, N.M., and Cani, P.D. (2012). Tetrahydro iso-alpha acids from hops improve glucose homeostasis and reduce body weight gain and metabolic endotoxemia in high-fat diet-fed mice. PLoS One *7*, e33858.

Fasano, A. (2000). Regulation of intercellular tight junctions by zonula occludens toxin and its eukaryotic analogue zonulin. Ann N Y Acad Sci *915*, 214–222.

Fasano, A., Budillon, G., Guandalini, S., Cuomo, R., Parrilli, G., Cangiotti, A.M., *et al.* (1990). Bile acids reversible effects on small intestinal permeability. An *in vitro* study in the rabbit. Dig Dis Sci *35*, 801–808.

Fasano, A., Baudry, B., Pumplin, D.W., Wasserman, S.S., Tall, B.D., Ketley, J.M., *et al.* (1991). Vibrio cholerae produces a second enterotoxin, which affects intestinal tight junctions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *88*, 5242–5246.

Fasano, A., Uzzau, S., Fiore, C., and Margaretten, K. (1997). The enterotoxic effect of zonula occludens toxin on rabbit small intestine involves the paracellular pathway. Gastroenterology *112*, 839–846.

Fasano, A., Not, T., Wang, W., Uzzau, S., Berti, I., Tommasini, A., *et al.* (2000). Zonulin, a newly discovered modulator of intestinal permeability, and its expression in coeliac disease. Lancet *355*, 1518–1519.

Ferreira, T.M., Leonel, A.J., Melo, M.A., Santos, R.R.G., Cara, D.C., Cardoso, V.N., *et al.* (2012). Oral supplementation of butyrate reduces mucositis and intestinal permeability associated with 5-fluorouracil administration. Lipids *47*, 669–678.

Fihn, B.-M., Sjöqvist, A., and Jodal, M. (2003). Involvement of enteric nerves in permeability changes due to deoxycholic acid in rat jejunum *in vivo*. Acta Physiol Scand *178*, 241–250.

Finamore, A., Massimi, M., Conti Devirgiliis, L., and Mengheri, E. (2008). Zinc deficiency induces membrane barrier damage and increases neutrophil transmigration in Caco-2 cells. J Nutr *138*, 1664–1670.

Foitzik, T., Stufler, M., Hotz, H.G., Klinnert, J., Wagner, J., Warshaw, A.L., *et al.* (1997). Glutamine stabilizes intestinal permeability and reduces pancreatic infection in acute experimental pancreatitis. J Gastrointest Surg 1, 40–46; discussion 46–47.

Fong, Y., Moldawer, L.L., Marano, M., Wei, H., Tatter, S.B., Clarick, R.H., *et al.* (1989). Endotoxemia elicits increased circulating beta 2-IFN/IL-6 in man. J Immunol *142*, 2321–2324.

Francavilla, R., Miniello, V., Magistà, A.M., De Canio, A., Bucci, N., Gagliardi, F., *et al.* (2010). A randomized controlled trial of Lactobacillus GG in children with functional abdominal pain. Pediatrics *126*, e1445–e1452.

Fukiya, S., Arata, M., Kawashima, H., Yoshida, D., Kaneko, M., Minamida, K., *et al.* (2009). Conversion of cholic acid and chenodeoxycholic acid into their 7-oxo derivatives by Bacteroides intestinalis AM-1 isolated from human feces. FEMS Microbiol Lett *293*, 263–270.

Gardiner, K.R., Halliday, M.I., Barclay, G.R., Milne, L., Brown, D., Stephens, S., *et al.* (1995). Significance of systemic endotoxaemia in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut *36*, 897–901.

Gareau, M.G., Jury, J., and Perdue, M.H. (2007). Neonatal maternal separation of rat pups results in abnormal cholinergic regulation of epithelial permeability. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *293*, G198–203.

Ghanim, H., Abuaysheh, S., Sia, C.L., Korzeniewski, K., Chaudhuri, A., Fernandez-Real, J.M., *et al.* (2009). Increase in plasma endotoxin concentrations and the expression of toll-like receptors and suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 in mononuclear cells after a high-fat, high-carbohydrate meal implications for insulin resistance. Dia Care *32*, 2281–2287.

Ghoshal, S., Witta, J., Zhong, J., De Villiers, W., and Eckhardt, E. (2009). Chylomicrons promote intestinal absorption of lipopolysaccharides. J Lipid Res *50*, 90–97.

Goerg, K.J., Gross, M., Nell, G., Rummel, W., and Schulz, L. (1980). Comparative study of the effect of cholera toxin and sodium deoxycholate on the paracellular permeability and on net fluid and electrolyte transfer in the rat colon. Naunyn Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol *312*, 91–97.

Goerg, K.J., Specht, W., Nell, G., Rummel, W., and Schulz, L. (1982). Effect of deoxycholate on the perfused rat colon. Scanning and transmission electron microscopic study of the morphological alterations occurring during the secretagogue action of deoxycholate. Digestion 25, 145–154. Goerg, K.J., Nell, G., and Rummel, W. (1983). Effect of deoxycholate on the perfused rat colon. Concentration dependence of the effect on net fluid and electrolyte transfer and the correlation with paracellular permeability. Digestion *26*, 105–113.

Govers, M.J., Termont, D.S., Lapré, J.A., Kleibeuker, J.H., Vonk, R.J., and Van der Meer, R. (1996). Calcium in milk products precipitates intestinal fatty acids and secondary bile acids and thus inhibits colonic cytotoxicity in humans. Cancer Res *56*, 3270–3275.

Goyette, P., Labbé, C., Trinh, T.T., Xavier, R.J., and Rioux, J.D. (2007). Molecular pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease: genotypes, phenotypes and personalized medicine. Ann Med *39*, 177–199.

Groen, A., Kunne, C., Elferink, R.P. (2006). Increased serum concentrations of secondary bile salts during cholate feeding are due to coprophagy. A study with wild-type and Atp8b1-deficient mice. Mol Pharm *3*, 756–761.

Groschwitz, K.R., and Hogan, S.P. (2009). Intestinal barrier function: Molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol *124*, 3–20.

Grundy, S.M., Ahrens, E.H., and Miettinen, T.A. (1965). Quantitative isolation and gas-liquid chromatographic analysis of total fecal bile acids. J Lipid Res *6*, 397–410.

Guttman, J.A., and Finlay, B.B. (2009). Tight junctions as targets of infectious agents. Biochim Biophys Acta *1788*, 832–841.

Gyory, C.P., and Chang, G.W. (1983). Effects of bran, lignin and deoxycholic acid on the permeability of the rat cecum and colon. J Nutr *113*, 2300–2307.

Hagio, M., Matsumoto, M., Fukushima, M., Hara, H., and Ishizuka, S. (2009). Improved analysis of bile acids in tissues and intestinal contents of rats using LC/ESI-MS. J Lipid Res *50*, 173–180.

Hamer, H.M., Jonkers, D., Venema, K., Vanhoutvin, S., Troost, F.J., and Brummer, R.-J. (2008). Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. Aliment Pharmacol Ther *27*, 104–119.

Hanson, P.J., Moran, A.P., and Butler, K. (2011). Paracellular permeability is increased by basal lipopolysaccharide in a primary culture of colonic epithelial cells; an effect prevented by an activator of Toll-like receptor-2. Innate Immun *17*, 269–282.

Hariri, N., and Thibault, L. (2010). High-fat diet-induced obesity in animal models. Nutr Res Rev 23, 270–299.

Harte, A.L., da Silva, N.F., Creely, S.J., McGee, K.C., Billyard, T., Youssef-Elabd, E.M., *et al.* (2010). Elevated endotoxin levels in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Inflamm *7*, 15.

Hashimoto, K., Nakayama, T., and Shimizu, M. (1998). Effects of betalactoglobulin on the tight-junctional stability of Caco-2-SF monolayer. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem *62*, 1819–1821.

Haub, S., Ritze, Y., Ladel, I., Saum, K., Hubert, A., Spruss, A., *et al.* (2011). Serotonin receptor type 3 antagonists improve obesity-associated fatty liver disease in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther *339*, 790–798.

Henrikson, C.K., Argenzio, R.A., Liacos, J.A., and Khosla, J. (1989). Morphologic and functional effects of bile salt on the porcine colon during injury and repair. Lab Invest *60*, 72–87.

Heuman, D.M. (1989). Quantitative estimation of the hydrophilichydrophobic balance of mixed bile salt solutions. J Lipid Res *30*, 719– 730.

Heuman, D.M., and Bajaj, R. (1994). Ursodeoxycholate conjugates protect against disruption of cholesterol-rich membranes by bile salts. Gastroenterology *106*, 1333–1341.

Hollander, D., Vadheim, C.M., Brettholz, E., Petersen, G.M., Delahunty, T., and Rotter, J.I. (1986). Increased intestinal permeability in patients with Crohn's disease and their relatives. A possible etiologic factor. Ann Intern Med *105*, 883–885.

Hollander, D., Koyama, S., Dadufalza, V., Tran, D.Q., Krugliak, P., Ma, T., *et al.* (1989). Polyethylene glycol 900 permeability of rat intestinal and colonic segments in vivo and brush border membrane vesicles in vitro. J Lab Clin Med *113*, 505–515.

Hossain, Z., and Hirata, T. (2008). Molecular mechanism of intestinal permeability: interaction at tight junctions. Mol BioSyst *4*, 1181–1185.

Houten, S.M., and Auwerx, J. (2008). Bile acids. In: Offermans S, Rosenthal W. (editors) Encyclopedia of molecular pharmacology. (New York: Springer).

Huang, C.T., Gopalakrishna, G.S., and Nichols, B.L. (1978). Fiber, intestinal sterols, and colon cancer. Am J Clin Nutr *31*, 516–526.

Hughes, R., Kurth, M.J., McGilligan, V., McGlynn, H., and Rowland, I. (2008). Effect of colonic bacterial metabolites on Caco-2 cell paracellular permeability in vitro. Nutr Cancer *60*, 259–266.

Isolauri, E., Majamaa, H., Arvola, T., Rantala, I., Virtanen, E., and Arvilommi, H. (1993). *Lactobacillus casei* strain GG reverses increased

intestinal permeability induced by cow milk in suckling rats. Gastroenterology *105*, 1643–1650.

John, L.J., Fromm, M., and Schulzke, J.-D. (2011). Epithelial Barriers in Intestinal Inflammation. Antioxid Redox Signal *15*, 1255–1270.

Katsube, T., Tsuji, H., and Onoda, M. (2007). Nitric oxide attenuates hydrogen peroxide-induced barrier disruption and protein tyrosine phosphorylation in monolayers of intestinal epithelial cell. Biochim Biophys Acta *1773*, 794–803.

Keita, A.V., Salim, S.Y., Jiang, T., Yang, P.-C., Franzén, L., Söderkvist, P., *et al.* (2008). Increased uptake of non-pathogenic *E. coli* via the follicle-associated epithelium in longstanding ileal Crohn's disease. J Pathol *215*, 135–144.

Kelly, C.J., Colgan, S.P., and Frank, D.N. (2012). Of microbes and meals: the health consequences of dietary endotoxemia. Nutr Clin Pract *27*, 215–225.

Kennedy, R.J., Hoper, M., Deodhar, K., Erwin, P.J., Kirk, S.J., and Gardiner, K.R. (2000). Interleukin 10-deficient colitis: new similarities to human inflammatory bowel disease. Br J Surg 87, 1346–1351.

Kesäniemi, Y.A., Tarpila, S., and Miettinen, T.A. (1990). Low vs high dietary fiber and serum, biliary, and fecal lipids in middle-aged men. Am J Clin Nutr *51*, 1007–1012.

Kim, K.-A., Gu, W., Lee, I.-A., Joh, E.-H., and Kim, D.-H. (2012). High Fat Diet-Induced Gut Microbiota Exacerbates Inflammation and Obesity in Mice via the TLR4 Signaling Pathway. PLoS One 7, e47713.

Kirpich, I.A., Feng, W., Wang, Y., Liu, Y., Barker, D.F., Barve, S.S., *et al.* (2012). The type of dietary fat modulates intestinal tight junction integrity, gut permeability, and hepatic toll-like receptor expression in a mouse model of alcoholic liver disease. Alcohol Clin Exp Res *36*, 835–846.

Kitchens, R.L., and Thompson, P.A. (2005). Modulatory effects of sCD14 and LBP on LPS-host cell interactions. J Endotoxin Res *11*, 225–229.

Kong, S.E., Blennerhassett, L.R., Heel, K.A., McCauley, R.D., and Hall, J.C. (1998). Ischaemia-reperfusion injury to the intestine. Aust N Z J Surg *68*, 554–561.

Kullmann, F., Arndt, H., Gross, V., Rüschoff, J., and Schölmerich, J. (1997a). Beneficial effect of ursodeoxycholic acid on mucosal damage in trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid-induced colitis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol *9*, 1205–1211.

Kullmann, F., Gross, V., Rüschoff, J., Arndt, H., Benda, W., Winkler von Mohrenfels, A., *et al.* (1997b). Effect of ursodeoxycholic acid on the inflammatory activity of indomethacin-induced intestinal inflammation in rats. Z Gastroenterol *35*, 171–178.

De La Serre, C.B., Ellis, C.L., Lee, J., Hartman, A.L., Rutledge, J.C., and Raybould, H.E. (2010). Propensity to high-fat diet-induced obesity in rats is associated with changes in the gut microbiota and gut inflammation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 299, G440–G448.

Lansing, A.M. (1963). Septic shock. Can Med Assoc J 89, 583-588.

Lapré, J.A., De Vries, H.T., Koeman, J.H., and Van der Meer, R. (1993). The antiproliferative effect of dietary calcium on colonic epithelium is mediated by luminal surfactants and dependent on the type of dietary fat. Cancer Res *53*, 784–789.

Laugerette, F., Vors, C., Géloën, A., Chauvin, M.-A., Soulage, C., Lambert-Porcheron, S., *et al.* (2011). Emulsified lipids increase endotoxemia: possible role in early postprandial low-grade inflammation. J Nutr Biochem *22*, 53–59.

Laugerette, F., Furet, J.-P., Debard, C., Daira, P., Loizon, E., Géloën, A., *et al.* (2012). Oil composition of high-fat diet affects metabolic inflammation differently in connection with endotoxin receptors in mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab *302*, E374–E386.

Leber, B., Tripolt, N.J., Blattl, D., Eder, M., Wascher, T.C., Pieber, T.R., *et al.* (2012). The influence of probiotic supplementation on gut permeability in patients with metabolic syndrome: an open label, randomized pilot study. Eur J Clin Nutr *66*, 1110–1115.

Lefebvre, P., Cariou, B., Lien, F., Kuipers, F., and Staels, B. (2009). Role of bile acids and bile acid receptors in metabolic regulation. Physiol Rev 89, 147–191.

Levrat, M.-A., Favier, M.-L., Moundras, C., Rémésy, C., Demigné, C., and Morand, C. (1994). Role of dietary propionic acid and bile acid excretion in the hypocholesterolemic effects of oligosaccharides in rats. J Nutr *124*, 531–538.

Li, N., DeMarco, V.G., West, C.M., and Neu, J. (2003). Glutamine supports recovery from loss of transepithelial resistance and increase of permeability induced by media change in Caco-2 cells. J Nutr Biochem *14*, 401–408.

Liu, S., Tinker, L., Song, Y., Rifai, N., Bonds, D.E., Cook, N.R., *et al.* (2007). A prospective study of inflammatory cytokines and diabetes mellitus in a multiethnic cohort of postmenopausal women. Arch Intern Med *167*, 1676–1685.
Liu, X.-C., Mei, Q., Xu, J.-M., and Hu, J. (2009). Balsalazine decreases intestinal mucosal permeability of dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis in mice. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. *30*, 987–993.

Loddenkemper, C., Keller, S., Hanski, M.-L., Cao, M., Jahreis, G., Stein, H., *et al.* (2006). Prevention of colitis-associated carcinogenesis in a mouse model by diet supplementation with ursodeoxycholic acid. Int J Cancer *118*, 2750–2757.

Lupton, J.R., Chen, X.Q., Frølich, W., Schoeffler, G.L., and Peterson, M.L. (1994). Rats fed high fat diets with increased calcium levels have fecal bile acid concentrations similar to those of rats fed a low fat diet. J Nutr *124*, 188–195.

MacNaughton, W.K. (2000). Review article: new insights into the pathogenesis of radiation-induced intestinal dysfunction. Aliment Pharmacol Ther *14*, 523–528.

Madara, J.L., and Carlson, S. (1991). Supraphysiologic L-tryptophan elicits cytoskeletal and macromolecular permeability alterations in hamster small intestinal epithelium *in vitro*. J Clin Invest 87, 454–462.

Magnotti, L.J., and Deitch, E.A. (2005). Burns, bacterial translocation, gut barrier function, and failure. J Burn Care Rehabil *26*, 383–391.

Marchiando, A.M., Graham, W.V., and Turner, J.R. (2010a). Epithelial barriers in homeostasis and disease. Annu Rev Pathol *5*, 119–144.

Marchiando, A.M., Shen, L., Graham, W.V., Weber, C.R., Schwarz, B.T., Austin, J.R., 2nd, *et al.* (2010b). Caveolin-1-dependent occludin endocytosis is required for TNF-induced tight junction regulation in vivo. J Cell Biol *189*, 111–126.

May, G.R., Sutherland, L.R., and Meddings, J.B. (1993). Is small intestinal permeability really increased in relatives of patients with Crohn's disease? Gastroenterology *104*, 1627–1632.

Melgar, S., Karlsson, L., Rehnström, E., Karlsson, A., Utkovic, H., Jansson, L., *et al.* (2008). Validation of murine dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis using four therapeutic agents for human inflammatory bowel disease. Int Immunopharmacol *8*, 836–844.

Miele, L., Valenza, V., La Torre, G., Montalto, M., Cammarota, G., Ricci, R., *et al.* (2009). Increased intestinal permeability and tight junction alterations in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology *49*, 1877–1887.

Miettinen, T.A. (1988). Cholesterol metabolism during ketoconazole treatment in man. J Lipid Res 29, 43–51.

Mochizuki, T., Satsu, H., Totsuka, M., and Shimizu, M. (2009). Transepithelial transport of macromolecular substances in IL-4 treated

human intestinal T84 cell monolayers. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 73, 2422–2426.

Monsma, C.C., Gallaher, D.D., and Ney, D.M. (1996). Reduced digestibility of beef tallow and cocoa butter affects bile acid excretion and reduces hepatic esterified cholesterol in rats. J Nutr *126*, 2028–2035.

Moreno-Navarrete, J.M., Ortega, F., Serino, M., Luche, E., Waget, A., Pardo, G., *et al.* (2011). Circulating lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP) as a marker of obesity-related insulin resistance. Int J Obes *36*, 1442–1449.

Münch, A., Ström, M., and Söderholm, J.D. (2007). Dihydroxy bile acids increase mucosal permeability and bacterial uptake in human colon biopsies. Scand J Gastroenterol *42*, 1167–1174.

Münch, A., Söderholm, J.D., Ost, A., Carlsson, A.H., Magnusson, K.-E., and Ström, M. (2011). Low levels of bile acids increase bacterial uptake in colonic biopsies from patients with collagenous colitis in remission. Aliment Pharmacol Ther *33*, 954–960.

Munkholm, P., Langholz, E., Hollander, D., Thornberg, K., Orholm, M., Katz, K.D., *et al.* (1994). Intestinal permeability in patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis and their first degree relatives. Gut *35*, 68–72.

Nagy-Szakal, D., Hollister, E.B., Luna, R.A., Szigeti, R., Tatevian, N., Smith, C.W., *et al.* (2013). Cellulose supplementation early in life ameliorates colitis in adult mice. PLoS ONE *8*, e56685.

O'Mahony, S.M., Hyland, N.P., Dinan, T.G., and Cryan, J.F. (2011). Maternal separation as a model of brain-gut axis dysfunction. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) *214*, 71–88.

Ohland, C.L., and MacNaughton, W.K. (2010). Probiotic bacteria and intestinal epithelial barrier function. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 298, G807–G819.

Panigrahi, P., Gewolb, I.H., Bamford, P., and Horvath, K. (1997). Role of glutamine in bacterial transcytosis and epithelial cell injury. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr *21*, 75–80.

Pastor Rojo, O., López San Román, A., Albéniz Arbizu, E., De la Hera Martínez, A., Ripoll Sevillano, E., and Albillos Martínez, A. (2007). Serum lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in endotoxemic patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm. Bowel Dis. *13*, 269–277.

Pendyala, S., Walker, J.M., and Holt, P.R. (2012). A high-fat diet is associated with endotoxemia that originates from the gut. Gastroenterology *142*, 1100–1101.

Peng, L., He, Z., Chen, W., Holzman, I.R., and Lin, J. (2007). Effects of butyrate on intestinal barrier function in a Caco-2 cell monolayer model of intestinal barrier. Pediatr Res *61*, 37–41.

Peng, L., Li, Z.-R., Green, R.S., Holzman, I.R., and Lin, J. (2009). Butyrate enhances the intestinal barrier by facilitating tight junction assembly via activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in Caco-2 cell monolayers. J Nutr *139*, 1619–1625.

Perrier, C., and Corthésy, B. (2011). Gut permeability and food allergies. Clin Exp Allergy 41, 20–28.

Perše, M., and Cerar, A. (2012). Dextran sodium sulphate colitis mouse model: traps and tricks. J Biomed Biotechnol *2012*, Epub ahead of print.

Picco, P., Gattorno, M., Marchese, N., Vignola, S., Sormani, M.P., Barabino, A., *et al.* (2000). Increased gut permeability in juvenile chronic arthritides. A multivariate analysis of the diagnostic parameters. Clin Exp Rheumatol *18*, 773–778.

Pirinen, E., Gylling, H., Itkonen, P., Yaluri, N., Heikkinen, S., Pietilä, M., *et al.* (2010). Activated polyamine catabolism leads to low cholesterol levels by enhancing bile acid synthesis. Amino Acids *38*, 549–560.

Prawitt, J., Caron, S., Staels, B. (2011). Bile acid metabolism and the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Curr Diab Rep *11*, 160–166.

PubChem database. http://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ [Accessed Feb 10th 2013].

Que, N.L., Lin, S., Cotter, R.J., and Raetz, C.R. (2000). Purification and mass spectrometry of six lipid A species from the bacterial endosymbiont Rhizobium etli. Demonstration of a conserved distal unit and a variable proximal portion. J Biol Chem *275*, 28006–28016.

Quintão, E., Grundy, S.M., and Ahrens, E.H. (1971). Effects of dietary cholesterol on the regulation of total body cholesterol in man. J Lipid Res *12*, 233–247.

Raimondi, F., Santoro, P., Barone, M.V., Pappacoda, S., Barretta, M.L., Nanayakkara, M., *et al.* (2008). Bile acids modulate tight junction structure and barrier function of Caco-2 monolayers via EGFR activation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *294*, G906–G913.

Rao, R. (2009). Endotoxemia and gut barrier dysfunction in alcoholic liver disease. Hepatology *50*, 638–644.

Reddy, B.S. (1981). Diet and excretion of bile acids. Cancer Res 41, 3766–3768.

Reddy, B.S., Mangat, S., Sheinfil, A., Weisburger, J.H., and Wynder, E.L. (1977). Effect of type and amount of dietary fat and 1,2dimethylhydrazine on biliary bile acids, fecal bile acids, and neutral sterols in rats. Cancer Res *37*, 2132–2137.

Reddy, B.S., Hedges, A., Laakso, K., and Wynder, E.L. (1978). Fecal constituents of a high-risk North American and a low-risk Finnish population for the development of large bowel cancer. Cancer Lett *4*, 217–222.

Reddy, B.S., Simi, B., Patel, N., Aliaga, C., and Rao, C.V. (1996). Effect of amount and types of dietary fat on intestinal bacterial 7αdehydroxylase and phosphatidylinositol-specific phospholipase C and colonic mucosal diayclglycerol kinase and PKC activities during different stages of colon tumor promotion. Cancer Res 56, 2314–2320.

Ridlon, J.M., Kang, D.-J., and Hylemon, P.B. (2006). Bile salt biotransformations by human intestinal bacteria. J Lipid Res *47*, 241–259.

Riordan, S.M., McIver, C.J., Thomas, D.H., Duncombe, V.M., Bolin, T.D., and Thomas, M.C. (1997). Luminal bacteria and small-intestinal permeability. Scand J Gastroenterol *32*, 556–563.

Rivera, J., and Tessarollo, L. (2008). Genetic background and the dilemma of translating mouse studies to humans. Immunity 28, 1–4.

Rodrigues, C.M., Fan, G., Ma, X., Kren, B.T., and Steer, C.J. (1998). A novel role for ursodeoxycholic acid in inhibiting apoptosis by modulating mitochondrial membrane perturbation. J Clin Invest *101*, 2790–2799.

Roumen, R.M., Frieling, J.T., Van Tits, H.W., Van der Vliet, J.A., and Goris, R.J. (1993). Endotoxemia after major vascular operations. J Vasc Surg *18*, 853–857.

Sadowski, D.C., and Meddings, J.B. (1993). Luminal nutrients alter tight-junction permeability in the rat jejunum: an *in vivo* perfusion model. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 71, 835–839.

Salen, G., Tint, G.S., Eliav, B., Deering, N., and Mosbach, E.H. (1974). Increased formation of ursodeoxycholic acid in patients treated with chenodeoxycholic acid. J Clin Invest 53, 612–621.

Sarker, S.A., and Gyr, K. (1992). Non-immunological defence mechanisms of the gut. Gut *33*, 987–993.

Sato, Y., Furihata, C., and Matsushima, T. (1987). Effects of high fat diet on fecal contents of bile acids in rats. Jpn J Cancer Res 78, 1198–1202.

Saweirs, W.M., Andrews, D.J., and Low-Beer, T.S. (1985). The double sugar test of intestinal permeability in the elderly. Age Ageing *14*, 312–315.

Schmitz, H., Fromm, M., Bentzel, C.J., Scholz, P., Detjen, K., Mankertz, J., *et al.* (1999). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNFalpha) regulates the epithelial barrier in the human intestinal cell line HT-29/B6. J. Cell. Sci *112 (Pt 1)*, 137–146.

Schreck, R., Rieber, P., and Baeuerle, P.A. (1991). Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kappa B transcription factor and HIV-1. EMBO J *10*, 2247–2258.

Schulzke, J.D., Ploeger, S., Amasheh, M., Fromm, A., Zeissig, S., Troeger, H., Richter, J., Bojarski, C., Schumann, M., and Fromm, M. (2009). Epithelial tight junctions in intestinal inflammation. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1165*, 294–300.

Scobey, M.W., Wolfe, M.S., and Rudel, L.L. (1992). Age- and dietary fatrelated effects on biliary lipids and cholesterol gallstone formation in African green monkeys. J Nutr *122*, 917–923.

Scott, K.G.-E., Meddings, J.B., Kirk, D.R., Lees-Miller, S.P., and Buret, A.G. (2002). Intestinal infection with *Giardia* spp. reduces epithelial barrier function in a myosin light chain kinase-dependent fashion. Gastroenterology *123*, 1179–1190.

Seki, E., and Schnabl, B. (2012). Role of innate immunity and the microbiota in liver fibrosis: crosstalk between the liver and gut. J Physiol 590, 447–458.

Sellon, R.K., Tonkonogy, S., Schultz, M., Dieleman, L.A., Grenther, W., *et al.* (1998). Resident enteric bacteria are necessary for development of spontaneous colitis and immune system activation in interleukin-10-deficient mice. Infect Immun *66*, 5224-5231.

Serino, M., Luche, E., Gres, S., Baylac, A., Bergé, M., Cenac, C., *et al.* (2012). Metabolic adaptation to a high-fat diet is associated with a change in the gut microbiota. Gut *61*, 543–553.

Shen, L. (2012). Tight junctions on the move: molecular mechanisms for epithelial barrier regulation. Ann N Y Acad Sci *1258*, 9–18.

Shi, X., and Gisolfi, C.V. (1996). Paracellular transport of water and carbohydrates during intestinal perfusion of protamine in the rat. Am J Med Sci *311*, 107–112.

Sladen, G.E., and Harries, J.T. (1972). Studies on the effects of unconjugated dihydroxy bile salts on rat small intestinal function *in vivo*. Biochim Biophys Acta 288, 443–456.

Söderholm, J.D., Yates, D.A., Gareau, M.G., Yang, P.-C., MacQueen, G., and Perdue, M.H. (2002). Neonatal maternal separation predisposes adult rats to colonic barrier dysfunction in response to mild stress. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *283*, G1257–1263.

Sukhotnik, I., Helou, H., Lurie, M., Khateeb, K., Bejar, J., Coran, A.G., *et al.* (2007). The effect of leptin on intestinal recovery following ischemia-reperfusion injury in a rat. Pediatr Surg Int *23*, 473-478.

Sun, L., Yu, Z., Ye, X., Zou, S., Li, H., Yu, D., *et al.* (2010). A marker of endotoxemia is associated with obesity and related metabolic disorders in apparently healthy Chinese. Diabetes Care *33*, 1925–1932.

Sun, Y., Fihn, B.-M., Jodal, M., and Sjövall, H. (2003). Effects of nicotinic receptor blockade on the colonic mucosal response to luminal bile acids in anaesthetized rats. Acta Physiol Scand *178*, 251–260.

Sun, Y., Fihn, B.-M., Sjövall, H., and Jodal, M. (2004a). Enteric neurones modulate the colonic permeability response to luminal bile acids in rat colon *in vivo*. Gut *53*, 362–367.

Sun, Y., Fihn, B.-M., Jodal, M., and Sjövall, H. (2004b). Inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis potentiates the colonic permeability increase triggered by luminal bile acids. Acta Physiol Scand *180*, 167–175.

Suzuki, T., and Hara, H. (2009). Quercetin enhances intestinal barrier function through the assembly of zonula [corrected] occludens-2, occludin, and claudin-1 and the expression of claudin-4 in Caco-2 cells. J Nutr *139*, 965–974.

Suzuki, T., and Hara, H. (2010). Dietary fat and bile juice, but not obesity, are responsible for the increase in small intestinal permeability induced through the suppression of tight junction protein expression in LETO and OLETF rats. Nutr Metab 7, 19.

Tachecí, I., Kopácová, M., Rejchrt, S., and Bures, J. (2010). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug induced injury to the small intestine. Acta Medica 53, 3–11.

Tanaka, N., Portman, O.W., and Osuga, T. (1976). Effect of type of dietary fat, cholesterol and chenodeoxycholic acid on gallstone formation, bile acid kinetics and plasma lipids in squirrel monkeys. J Nutr *106*, 1123–1134.

Taylor, S.N., Basile, L.A., Ebeling, M., and Wagner, C.L. (2009). Intestinal Permeability in Preterm Infants by Feeding Type: Mother's Milk Versus Formula. Breastfeed Med *4*, 11–15.

Teahon, K., Smethurst, P., Levi, A.J., Menzies, I.S., and Bjarnason, I. (1992). Intestinal permeability in patients with Crohn's disease and their first degree relatives. Gut *33*, 320–323.

Teixeira, T.F.S., Collado, M.C., Ferreira, C.L.L.F., Bressan, J., and Peluzio, M. do C.G. (2012a). Potential mechanisms for the emerging link between obesity and increased intestinal permeability. Nutr Res *32*, 637–647.

Teixeira, T.F.S., Souza, N.C.S., Chiarello, P.G., Franceschini, S.C.C., Bressan, J., Ferreira, C.L.L.F., *et al.* (2012b). Intestinal permeability parameters in obese patients are correlated with metabolic syndrome risk factors. Clin Nutr *31*, 735–740.

Trautwein, E.A., Rieckhoff, D., and Erbersdobler, H.F. (1998a). Dietary inulin lowers plasma cholesterol and triacylglycerol and alters biliary bile acid profile in hamsters. J Nutr *128*, 1937–1943.

Trautwein, E.A., Rieckhoff, D., Kunath-Rau, A., and Erbersdobler, H.F. (1998b). Psyllium, not pectin or guar gum, alters lipoprotein and biliary bile acid composition and fecal sterol excretion in the hamster. Lipids *33*, 573–582.

Turner, D., Shah, P.S., Steinhart, A.H., Zlotkin, S., Griffiths, A.M. (2011). Using omega-3 fatty acids (fish oil): a systematic review and meta-analysis. Inflamm Bowel Dis *17*, 336–345.

Turnbaugh, P.J. (2012). Microbiology: fat, bile and gut microbes. Nature 487, 47–48.

Ulluwishewa, D., Anderson, R.C., McNabb, W.C., Moughan, P.J., Wells, J.M., and Roy, N.C. (2011). Regulation of tight junction permeability by intestinal bacteria and dietary components. J Nutr *141*, 769–776.

Vaarala, O. (2008). Leaking gut in type 1 diabetes. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 24, 701–706.

Vaile, J.H., Meddings, J.B., Yacyshyn, B.R., Russell, A.S., and Maksymowych, W.P. (1999). Bowel permeability and CD45RO expression on circulating CD20+ B cells in patients with ankylosing spondylitis and their relatives. J Rheumatol *26*, 128–135.

Valenti, L., Fracanzani, A.L., and Fargion, S. (2009). The immunopathogenesis of alcoholic and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: two triggers for one disease? Semin Immunopathol *31*, 359–369.

Van Nieuwenhoven, M.A., Geerling, B.J., Deutz, N.E.P., Brouns, F., and Brummer, R.-J.M. (1999). The sensitivity of the lactulose/rhamnose gut permeability test. Eur J Clin Invest *29*, 160–165.

Vanschoonbeek, K., de Maat, M.P.M., Heemskerk, J.W.M. (2003). Fish oil consumption and reduction of arterial disease. J Nutr *133*, 657–660.

Verdam, F.J., Greve, J.W.M., Roosta, S., Van Eijk, H., Bouvy, N., Buurman, W.A., *et al.* (2011). Small intestinal alterations in severely obese hyperglycemic subjects. J Clin Endocrinol Metab *96*, E379–383.

Visser, J.T.J., Lammers, K., Hoogendijk, A., Boer, M.W., Brugman, S., Beijer-Liefers, S., *et al.* (2010). Restoration of impaired intestinal barrier function by the hydrolysed casein diet contributes to the prevention of type 1 diabetes in the diabetes-prone BioBreeding rat. Diabetologia 53, 2621–2628.

Vollmar, B., and Menger, M.D. (2011). Intestinal ischemia/reperfusion: microcirculatory pathology and functional consequences. Langenbeck's Arch Surg *396*, 13–29.

Volynets, V., Küper, M.A., Strahl, S., Maier, I.B., Spruss, A., Wagnerberger, S., *et al.* (2012) Nutrition, intestinal permeability, and blood ethanol levels are altered in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). Dig Dis Sci 57, 1932–1941.

Wang, D.Q.-H., and Tazuma, S. (2002). Effect of beta-muricholic acid on the prevention and dissolution of cholesterol gallstones in C57L/J mice. J Lipid Res *43*, 1960–1968.

Wang, Z., and Hoy, W.E. (2007). C-reactive protein and the risk of developing type 2 diabetes in Aboriginal Australians. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 76, 37–43.

Wang, W., Uzzau, S., Goldblum, S.E., and Fasano, A. (2000). Human zonulin, a potential modulator of intestinal tight junctions. J Cell Sci *113 Pt 24*, 4435–4440.

Watson, J.L., Ansari, S., Cameron, H., Wang, A., Akhtar, M., and McKay, D.M. (2004). Green tea polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin gallate blocks epithelial barrier dysfunction provoked by IFN-gamma but not by IL-4. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 287, G954–961.

Weaver, L.T., Laker, M.F., and Nelson, R. (1984). Intestinal permeability in the newborn. Arch Dis Child 59, 236–241.

Wilson, J.D., and Lindsey, C.A. (1965). Studies on the influence of dietary cholesterol on cholesterol metabolism in the isotopic steady state in man. J Clin Invest *44*, 1805–1814.

Yago, M.D., González, V., Serrano, P., Calpena, R., Martínez, M.A., Martínez-Victoria, E., *et al.* (2005). Effect of the type of dietary fat on biliary lipid composition and bile lithogenicity in humans with cholesterol gallstone disease. Nutrition *21*, 339–347.

Yasumatsu, H., and Tanabe, S. (2010). The casein peptide Asn-Pro-Trp-Asp-Gln enforces the intestinal tight junction partly by increasing occludin expression in Caco-2 cells. Br J Nutr *104*, 951–956. Yoshida, S., Matsui, M., Shirouzu, Y., Fujita, H., Yamana, H., and Shirouzu, K. (1998). Effects of glutamine supplements and radiochemotherapy on systemic immune and gut barrier function in patients with advanced esophageal cancer. Ann Surg *227*, 485–491.

Yu, D., Marchiando, A.M., Weber, C.R., Raleigh, D.R., Wang, Y., Shen, L., *et al.* (2010). MLCK-dependent exchange and actin binding regiondependent anchoring of ZO-1 regulate tight junction barrier function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *107*, 8237–8241.

Yu, L.C.-H., Wang, J.-T., Wei, S.-C., and Ni, Y.-H. (2012). Hostmicrobial interactions and regulation of intestinal epithelial barrier function: From physiology to pathology. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol *3*, 27–43.

Zhou, Q., Zhang, B., and Verne, G.N. (2009a). Intestinal membrane permeability and hypersensitivity in the irritable bowel syndrome. Pain 146, 41-46.

Zhou, Y., Doyen, R., and Lichtenberger, L.M. (2009b). The role of membrane cholesterol in determining bile acid cytotoxicity and cytoprotection of ursodeoxycholic acid. Biochim Biophys Acta *1788*, 507–513.

Zolotarevsky, Y., Hecht, G., Koutsouris, A., Gonzalez, D.E., Quan, C., Tom, J., *et al.* (2002). A membrane-permeant peptide that inhibits MLC kinase restores barrier function in *in vitro* models of intestinal disease. Gastroenterology *123*, 163–172.

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS